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Thursday, July 26, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


We received some feedback on the schedule that was announced yesterday, and so we now have a revised schedule for argument.  We will have oral argument-in-chief on August 13th.  We will have Board Staff's submission in writing on August 17th, oral intervenor argument starting August 23rd and going on to August 24th, and then oral reply argument on September 4th.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.


MS. HARE:  Are there any other preliminary matters?


MR. SMITH:  I believe there is -- we have one brief preliminary matter, and then I believe my friend, Mr. Cameron, has a brief preliminary matter.


This may or may not be an issue, but I wanted to alert the Board to it and perhaps set aside 15, 20 minutes after the lunch break.


We have requested -- from those parties who have retained Mr. Rosenkranz, we have asked for certain information, communications with Mr. Rosenkranz and drafts of his report.


I understand my friends are considering that request, but to the extent we need to have a discussion about it, I think it would be preferable if we could have that today, because Mr. Rosenkranz is up tomorrow, and would obviously appreciate having the materials in advance of his cross-examination.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Just on that, the topic of ordering, after the TransCanada panel, we will move to the cost allocation?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  And then is Mr. Rosenkranz immediately after cost allocation, but before rate design?


MR. SMITH:  Well, cost allocation and rate design will be empanelled together.


MS. HARE:  One panel.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rosenkranz, I understand, has some constraints on his availability.  He is not available Monday.


Based on current estimates, we will be nip and tuck to finish tomorrow.  I think everybody in the room would like to finish tomorrow.  I have said to my friends that Mr. Rosenkranz should come for tomorrow, and, given his availability constraints, if we have to break and put him on to be cross-examined, assuming there is cross-examination, I am happy to do that, and then we would go back.


I just don't want to have -- you know, if he is not available Monday, he is not available Monday.  We will break up our panel.


MS. HARE:  So your panel would stand down, we would have Mr. Rosenkranz, and then continue, if required?


MR. SMITH:  If required, yes.


MS. HARE:  And that also means, if required -- we share the same desire to be done tomorrow, but, if required, we are available on Monday.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, I understand.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Cameron, I believe, has a matter.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Just a brief matter.  Mr. Bell has a minor transcript correction, but one he thinks ought to be made on the record.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. BELL:  On page 126, line 7, I made the statement 500, then 500,000 terajoules.  That should actually read 500 terajoules.  So if you could delete the 500,000.


MS. HARE:  That's line 7?


MR. BELL:  Page 126, line 7.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Is that all, Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  Yes, thank you.


MS. HARE:  So, Mr. Smith, we are ready for your cross.

TRANSCANADA PIPELINES LIMITED – PANEL 1, RESUMED


Donald Bell, Previously Sworn


Steve Emond, Previously Sworn


Lawrence Jensen, Previously Sworn


Tim Stringer, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Members of the panel, my name is Crawford Smith.  I represent Union Gas.  I had distributed the other day a document labelled "Cross-Examination Compendium", and I wonder, Mr. Millar, if that could be marked as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Exhibit K10.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K10.1:  UNION CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.


MR. MILLAR:  Panel, I understand you don't have copies, so I will bring those up.  Mr. Smith, there are some other documents, as well.  Should we mark them all at once, or as they come up organically in your cross?


MR. SMITH:  We might as well mark them, if it is convenient, just before we get going.


I had also provided a document entitled "Commercial Operations Update, February 2, 2011", and perhaps we could have that marked as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  K10.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K10.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS UPDATE, FEBRUARY 2, 2011".

MR. SMITH:  And then, finally, another document that was provided, Enbridge working committee on system reliability dated February 25, 2010, if we could mark that as an exhibit, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  That is K10.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K10.3:  ENBRIDGE WORKING COMMITTEE ON SYSTEM RELIABILITY DATED FEBRUARY 25, 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Panel, you will see that final document is actually before you.  The other two I will bring up right now.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the panel, yesterday you were asked by Mr. Quinn some questions about de-contracting and the impact on TCPL, which, as I understand it, means tolls are going up.  Do you recall that?


MR. BELL:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it that is, of course, true for other utilities, as well.  If they experience de-contracting, their rates may go up, as well?


MR. BELL:  That's fair.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it that that is a risk that a prudent utility would seek to manage?


MR. BELL:  That's fair.


MR. SMITH:  And I think it is fair, as well, sir, that that is something a regulator should be cognizant of?


MR. BELL:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. SMITH:  Now, the discussion we're talking about would obviously apply to Union Gas?


MR. BELL:  I think it would apply to all utilities.


MR. SMITH:  Are you aware, sir, that a substantial percentage of the throughput on Union's Dawn to Parkway system is represented by ex-franchise shippers?


MR. BELL:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And that would be customers such as TCPL; correct?


MR. BELL:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  GMI?


MR. BELL:  I think that is fair --


MR. SMITH:  Enbridge?


MR. BELL:  -- although I would say I'm not sure what GMI's contracting practices are, and what contracting -- contracts they have on Union.


MR. SMITH:  Enbridge?


MR. BELL:  Yes, we have seen evidence in this hearing which shows that there is Enbridge contracting.  It holds contracts on Union.


MR. SMITH:  Now, were you aware, sir, that this ex-franchise throughput, which is M12 shippers, represents about two-thirds of the throughput on Union's Dawn to Parkway system?


MR. BELL:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, Mr. Quinn also talked to you yesterday about obligations Union has to TCPL, and I just want to break that out so that the record is clear.


Union has an obligation to TCPL, in TCPL's capacity as a transmission company at Parkway, as it relates to pressure; correct?


MR. EMOND:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And the other obligations that Union has are to its shippers in relation to their shipped volumes?


MR. EMOND:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And so Union meet its obligations to TCPL as they relate to pressure by delivering their shipped volumes?


MR. EMOND:  I think that is fair, yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, I want to just talk to you about reliability a bit.  I take it that TCPL designs and markets its system as able to meet daily contract quantities specified in long-term firm contracts during periods of peak demand, even with a loss of the single-most critical compressor unit?


MR. EMOND:  That is true on the Mainline system.  It's not true of the NGTL system.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to TCPL 13, page 2 of 3?  If we could just have that brought up.

And this is what you were referring to, sir, at question c):

"LCU is an element of the system design of the Canadian Mainline and therefore all assets on the integrated system, including TBO assets..."

And that's "transmission by others"; correct?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:
"... are influenced by the LCU criteria."

And this is what you just described for me?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  On the Mainline, in terms of our system design on the Mainline, yes, it includes loss of critical unit.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn, sir, to attachment 1 of TCPL 3?

If we go back just to the first page, as I understand it, this is your open season document back in April of this year; is that correct?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if I ask you to turn to page 11, under the heading "Conclusions," you're talking here about advantages of TCPL.

And if we look down under the heading "Operational excellence," you will see one of the things you tout is "secure and reliable annual firm service"; correct?

MR. STRINGER:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you talk about your "strong record of safety and technical excellence"?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you also talk about your "flexible and easy to use transactional systems"?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, above that under the heading "Competitive option," you say that:

"TransCanada's seamless service provides a competitive option to marketers looking to access Marcellus supply."

Correct?

MR. STRINGER:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  When you're talking about competitive option, you're talking about competitive relative to Union?

MR. STRINGER:  I think it would be competitive not only to Union, but to other pipelines in the US northeast that might be looking to move gas to markets in that region.

And so TransCanada is able to, through its system, provide service from the Niagara or Chippewa points, back up to export points or our system, such as the Iroquois point.

MR. SMITH:  Let me tell you why I suggested to you it was Union.

If you turn back to page 5 of this document, and this is Mainline rates to key markets; you see that?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Then if you turn over the page, you have Niagara to market versus Dawn to market.  And as far as I can tell, at least on this slide, the only competitor you are referring to here is Union; fair?

MR. STRINGER:  This slide would refer to options for markets to purchase gas either at Dawn or at Niagara, and the point of the open season, of course, was looking to market the path from Niagara or Chippewa to market.

So this was highlighting the relative toll differences between those two receipt points to market.

MR. SMITH:  And the one you chose was Union Dawn?

MR. BELL:  No.  I would like to add to what Mr. Stringer said.

The purpose of this presentation was intended to attract Marcellus gas to Ontario, and the reference to "competitive" was to highlight the opportunities and the pricing from Marcellus, Niagara, to various points in Ontario that were markets.

It was not intended to, in any way, suggest that this was a competitive alternative to Union transportation.

We have, for some time -- including in cooperation with Union -- spoken to Marcellus shippers about alternatives to bring gas in to either Niagara or Chippewa, and to take that gas back to Dawn -- we did cooperatively with them -- or to move those supplies to Marcellus or other points in Ontario.

And that was the purpose of this presentation.  It was targeted towards a number of shippers downstream from Niagara and Chippewa, producers, that we know have capacity at either Niagara and Chippewa, and that was the purpose of this presentation.

The pricing of the tolls was really in reference to – that these were competitive markets in places where we were delivering gas to, in Ontario.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 9 of this presentation, sir?

What you say here is -- this is a reference to a path along your Hamilton line; correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And what you're talking about here is serving from Niagara to the GTA via your Hamilton line, as the heading implies?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's the light blue line?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is below Union's line?

MR. BELL:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And for shippers taking that path, that would be a bypass of Union's Dawn-to-Parkway system?

MR. BELL:  I would not view it that way, because this pipeline is a pipeline that currently exists, is a pipeline which is currently -- currently exists on TransCanada's system.  It's infrastructure that exists; we are not looking at building new infrastructure.

What we were proposing in this particular presentation was an alternative to deliver gas directly into Toronto at a very, very low cost, which would provide Toronto an alternative, an independent alternative to access Marcellus gas into Toronto, a path which is different than long-haul from the WCSB, and also a path which is different than from Dawn, which is something that customers have expressed an interest in.

MR. SMITH:  Can we agree on this?  I think I may have hung you up with the word "bypass" and your initial response that this is existing infrastructure.

Can we at least agree on this?  To the extent throughput goes along your Hamilton line, that is throughput that wouldn't be going along Union's line?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BELL:  I think that is fair.

I mean, the reason I was asking my colleague here is that we also serve markets off that Hamilton line which are Union markets.

But fair enough.  To your point, to the extent that volumes travel on that line, they would not be travelling between Kirkwall and Parkway.

As I mentioned yesterday, we did receive considerable interest in the open season that we just -- that just closed.  And we're in the process of trying to figure out the best way and the most economical way to bring that gas into this market.

And that's in the context that we were presenting this proposal, as well.

MR. STRINGER:  I would also point out if you look at the slide, the last bullet references a rate of 10-and-a-half cents, estimated, to what we would call the EGD Parkway DDA.  So this rate is essentially very close to what -- the rate from Niagara or Chippewa to the Union CDA would be, so part of this proposal is it also offers a rate advantage relative to the broader Enbridge CDA, to get gas into the -- a certain portion of the GTA market.

MR. SMITH:  Well, there are some other documents we will go through.

Did I understand your evidence yesterday to the effect that Union did not provide you with sufficient notice of the Parkway West project before this application?

Is that what I should take from your evidence, Mr. Bell?

MR. BELL:  I think what I said yesterday was there was a meeting between TransCanada and Union about the Parkway West project.  And 10 days after, after that meeting, Union filed an application with the OEB including the Parkway West project.

So prior to that, there was no discussion.  In the meeting, there was no request for comments, and 10 days later it was filed with the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to your answer to Union interrogatory 12, sir?

You were asked in this question about alternatives, and, if we look at b):
"Has TransCanada ever discussed these facilities or options with Union?"

And if we go down to the answer, the answer you provide is "no", and that is fair?

MR. BELL:  Yes, but I would like to put some context around that.  As I mentioned yesterday, prior to this open season which Union held, which we received no notice of, prior to that time we worked collaboratively with Union and we went out and solicited the market, put together a joint open season, and, using that process, we shared and exchanged our presentations with one another.  We developed our presentations collaboratively.

This presentation was developed, and if we would have been in a cooperative situation with Union as part of their open season, we would have shared this information with them.

In fact, about two weeks prior to Union's open season, I mentioned to Union that we were receiving requests of Marcellus and Chippewa for additional supply, to bring it in, into Canada.  And I suggested it would be opportune for us to get back together and jointly market the capacity.

So you can imagine my surprise when, two weeks after that, I got -- we got a 30-minute -- or 30 minutes prior to the open season being released, we got a voice mail from Union saying they were going with this open season to effectively bypass TransCanada.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to attachment 1 of that presentation, sir -- attachment 1 of that interrogatory?

This is a presentation that you gave to Enbridge Gas Distribution on the 16th; correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if I can ask you to turn in that presentation to page 3, this is what we were looking at before, the Niagara to GTA via the Hamilton route; correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And what you're suggesting to Enbridge is that this would provide them with supply diversification, and, by that, you mean supply diversification away from Union?

MR. BELL:  No.  Again, what we believe is this provides a very low-cost alternative to connect Marcellus gas directly to the GTA using existing pipeline infrastructure at a very low capital investment and would provide a totally independent path from any path currently serving the GTA.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. BELL:  It is just a reversal of flow on this line.

MR. STRINGER:  As I stated earlier, again there is a rate advantage along this path for Enbridge into their franchise or to parties along that line relative to delivering gas to what we would call the broader Enbridge CDA.

And that's a rate -- the rate that we would propose through this route is equivalent to what Union would receive at the Union CDA along the same path.

MR. SMITH:  And can I ask you, sir, to turn to what I think has been marked as Exhibit 10.3, because this presentation keeps turning up.  This is a presentation that you gave to Enbridge's working committee on system reliability back in February 25 -- February 25 of 2010; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  This is a portion of that presentation, not the complete presentation.

MR. SMITH:  No.  I tried to spare you the full 80 pages.

Can I ask you to turn to page 5?  And what you're saying here, I think fairly, sir, is that Enbridge is highly dependent on Union; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, that is correct.  I think -- as I understand it, Enbridge relies upon something on the order of two-thirds of the peak day demand in the GTA directly from Union Gas at Parkway.  In addition, TransCanada has services, as you know, on Union and some smaller quantities come via that path through TransCanada.

But TransCanada does have the option of moving gas to the GTA from either that direction using Union M12, or via, as we discussed yesterday, a backhaul route in through the north.

So we have alternatives in terms of meeting our deliveries to Enbridge, but certainly there's a high reliance by Enbridge on Union deliveries at Parkway, which I understand already have loss of critical unit protection.

MR. SMITH:  Well, if we look at the first bullet, one of the things you were clearly saying to Enbridge, at least at that time, was that they ought to be concerned because there's a potential for significant restriction if Union has an outage or a line break; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if we turn over a couple of pages, sir, to page 7, this is the backhaul around the horn option you were just talking about, and one of the advantages you highlighted for Enbridge at that time of this option was that TCPL -- firm shipper contracts on TCPL are less susceptible to a Union outage; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.  Maybe I should give some context to this presentation.

MR. SMITH:  Before we get there, I do have a couple more questions about it.

MR. EMOND:  If you wouldn't mind --


MR. SMITH:  Don't worry.  I will give you the opportunity.  I just want to make sure it's clear.

So what we're talking about here with the arrows going up to the left, that is backhaul on Great Lakes Gas Transmission; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Not necessarily.  Going back in time, so we -- as I mentioned yesterday, we started providing short-haul service out of the Dawn area back in the early 2000 time frame, and probably got up to about half a Bcf a day of short-haul deliveries from Dawn area to the east.  And that was initially achieved via exchange with deliveries to the Dawn area, so there was no --


MR. SMITH:  Can I just ask you, just for context and so I understand it:  Is that what is referred to as the Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL service, sir?

MR. EMOND:  No, it isn't.

MR. SMITH:  We will come to that, then.  All right, keep going.

MR. EMOND:  So this initially was provided by exchange with volumes that TransCanada was delivering from the west to the Dawn area.  So we were able to achieve that transportation of substantial short-haul volumes without any investment in any capital whatsoever.

Over time, obviously, western deliveries to the Dawn area have diminished, requiring that we contract for Dawn-to-Dawn service that you referred to, plus Great Lakes backhaul.

It is my understanding that the gas does not physically move that direction.  We nominate the backhaul, and I think only on a few days thus far has gas actually moved from Emerson back into the TransCanada system.

But, by and large, the Great Lakes system does it by exchange, so the gas doesn't really -- isn't really transported that distance.

So that is the way that we achieve it today.  We nominate backhaul on Great Lakes and we move the volumes through the north down to the Toronto area.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  A couple of questions on that.  So the volumes go down around the north and they come in, and it is hard to see on this diagram, but the effect of what you're talking about is the volume does not move on Union's Dawn to Parkway system; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Some volume is not moved on the Union system.

This was incremental short-haul demands through the early to mid-part of the 2000 decade, so incremental volumes, which essentially were displacing long-haul from the west, and instead of constructing additional facilities on the Union system, to move that gas to market to meet the needs of the market, TransCanada was able to do that using existing infrastructure.  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, you are aware, sir, that throughout this proceeding, TCPL has asked a number of questions in relation to Union's Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL service; correct?


MR. EMOND:  That's fair, yes.


MR. SMITH:  And your counsel spent some time cross-examining on that topic, generally with a thrust to trying to understand how much additional Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL capacity there might be; correct?


That's why you want to know the questions.  You want
-- you asked those questions?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, I think that's fair.


MR. SMITH:  And the reason you want to know that is because you want to know how much you can go around the horn; correct?


MR. EMOND:  We don't characterize it "around the horn."  We characterize it as the lowest-cost means of getting gas to market.


Yes, we were looking for additional ability to nominate back-haul, basically, from Dawn, then up Great Lakes and through the north.


And the constraint, as we understand it, had been from Union at Dawn itself, not upstream.  So it is our understanding Great Lakes has additional back-haul capability.


Certainly through our NOL system we have lots of excess capacity.


MR. SMITH:  Let's talk a little bit, if we can, about the alternatives.  And I am cognizant of your counsel's early statement, so we won't belabour any of the points.


But I take it we can agree that what we're talking about when we're talking about LCU coverage is LCU coverage for roughly a pJ of gas; correct?


Your evidence talks about 0.9; Mr. Redford talked about 1.1.  I am just splitting the difference.


MR. JENSEN:  Yes.  So based on the corrections that were made yesterday, we are now talking up to 1.1 pJs per day, if Union were to contract right up to the maximum capacity of their Parkway compression.


MR. SMITH:  Now, you have in your evidence a number of options.  I just want to talk about options 1 and 4, if I can, briefly.


I understand option -- option 1 is a transportation service, as I understand it, from Empress, and option 4 is a transportation service using back-haul on Great Lakes Gas; correct?


MR. STRINGER:  Well, I can speak to option 1.


So that would be the use of short-term firm transportation, which doesn't necessarily have to come from Empress.  That could be transacted from a point such as Emerson or North Bay Junction.  Short-term firm service on our system is also available from the broader delivery areas.


MR. SMITH:  So I take it, though, under option 1, one of the lines that is going to be used is the northern Ontario line; correct?


MR. STRINGER:  That's correct, subject to where the gas is bid for and nominated from.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to -- make sure I have the correct reference -- can I ask you to turn to Union -- your answer to Union 4?  And it is attachment 1, and if I can ask you to turn to page 11 of that, sir?


This is your northern Ontario line winter actuals, actual flow, contract and capacity, and I believe we're talking about the winter of 2010/'11 here; correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Now, just so that we can identify the lines, the dotted line says "NOL capacity with long-term maintenance"; correct?


MR. EMOND:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Do I understand that the long-term maintenance program with respect to that line was recently suspended by TCPL, and is no longer planned to take place in 2012?


MR. EMOND:  That is correct for 2012.


We have temporarily suspended integrity work on certain sections of the NOL, so it is not -- I don't want to leave the impression it is the entire NOL.


So there are certain sections of line 2 that require some integrity investigative work, and we have temporarily suspended that work, pending an analysis of the cost-benefit of conducting that work.


MR. SMITH:  And that is exactly what you told the NEB last week?


MR. EMOND:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And if we look at the red line, we have your firm capacity on the northern Ontario line over the winter, then; correct?


MR. EMOND:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me, during the winter of 2010/2011, how many days during that season the flow met or exceeded the firm capacity of the northern Ontario line?


MR. EMOND:  I can't give you an exact number of days, but I think it's illustrated on the chart.  So the blue would be the actual flow, and the red line is our firm capacity.  And --


MR. SMITH:  The blue is above the red; that is a day?


MR. EMOND:  Yes.  So understand that the firm capacity is with loss of critical unit.  To the extent that the critical unit is still operating, we would have capacity up to the red dashed line.


MR. SMITH:  Can you tell me, sir, how many days during -- well, sorry, before we move off that, hard for me to ballpark this, but would something like a dozen days be about correct?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, I think that's fair.


MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me how many days during this time period the northern Ontario line flow was within a pJ of the capacity?


And just so that -- I am bad at this, so bear with me, but my understanding is a pJ on the right-hand side is basically a thousand terajoules?


MR. EMOND:  Correct, yes.


MR. SMITH:  So how many days would it have been within a thousand terajoules?


MR. EMOND:  Unless we take a long time, I won't be able to add up the number of days, but, again, I think the graph illustrates that.


I think it also illustrates that from that "firm capacity" line up to the dashed red line, there's probably another BCF or another petaJoules of capacity available.


The other thing that this, of course, doesn't represent is since that winter we have experienced significant loss of additional throughput from the west, and in our Mainline hearing -- as you would be aware -- we recently filed an update of our forecast, and that would show a further petaJoules reduction in throughput.


So it's on that basis that we believe there is substantial capacity in the NOL to accommodate additional flows.


MR. SMITH:  Just while we're talking about the issue of reliability, can I ask you to turn back to -- I apologize for doing this.  Can I ask you to turn back to Exhibit 10.3, which is your presentation to Enbridge on system reliability, and can I ask you to turn to page 13?

Now, you mentioned yesterday the Beardmore incident, and that was in 2011.  And just what we have here in January of 2009 appears to be an impact in January of 2009 of eight compressor outages; is that correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.  This was a fairly significant cold weather event, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the impact of it was that it reduced capacity by approximately 0.6 pJs?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if you turn over the page, you talk about risks during extreme conditions and you talk about capacity being available.  Do you see that?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And one of the things you identified for Enbridge at that time is that it reduces capacity available for non-firm discretionary services; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then at the bottom, what you say is:
"Allocation of new interruptible nominations and new STFT contracts is based on sealed-bid auction process."

Do you see that, as well?

MR. EMOND:  Correct, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it that what Enbridge should take from that is that the prudent -- the prudent course of conduct in that circumstance would be to contract for STFT over the winter season, because you don't know when it is going to be extreme; correct?

MR. EMOND:  That was ultimately what Enbridge elected to do, yes.  They contracted for substantial winter season short-term firm service.

MR. SMITH:  Can you tell me what the cost would be to purchase STFT to Union's CDA for one pJ of capacity over the winter season?

MR. EMOND:  Not off the top of my head, but it would be substantial.

MR. SMITH:  Hundreds of millions of dollars?

MR. EMOND:  Likely, yes.  Keep in mind that is not what we're suggesting that Union should consider in our option 1.

MR. SMITH:  I understand, sir.

MR. EMOND:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  Now, am I correct that under your tariff, STFT is only available through existing capacity?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct.  We don't build incremental facilities to accommodate STFT.

MR. SMITH:  Indeed, we see that in this very presentation back on page 12, what you told Enbridge - and I am going to suggest to you the reason you told them that was that it would behoove Enbridge to contract for capacity over the winter - is that you don't reserve capacity or facilities for discretionary services, what you describe as STFT diversions, alternate receipts and IT; correct?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct, until STFT is contracted.  Once it is contracted, it is fully firm and is treated the same as long-term firm in terms of priority of service.

MR. SMITH:  Now, can I ask you this in relation to the Great Lakes Gas Transmission system.  Have you approached Great Lakes to discuss whether an incremental pJ of backhaul capacity exists between St. Clair and Emerson?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. EMOND:  I would say a couple of years ago we had approached Great Lakes and it was a very kind of high-level, quick question and response in terms of what they thought might be available and what it might cost them to provide that quantity of backhaul.

So it wasn't -- I would characterize -- or I would not characterize it as a thorough analysis of their facilities; kind of a quick reaction to the question.  But, yes, that would have been a couple of years ago, and I think there was a slide that was talked about yesterday where we had locked at sort of a full backhaul versus a full forward-haul.

MR. SMITH:  And we will come to that.  Great Lakes is a wholly-owned affiliate of TCPL?  It used to be a partnership.  I think you bought them out.

MR. BELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to attachment to Union 3D?

And I think this is what you were referring to, sir, October 25, 2010, eastern capacity requirements.  Just wait for that to come up.  Correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes, I believe that's the case.

MR. SMITH:  And this looked at the cost of backhaul on GLGT; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what you were looking at at that point were two things.  One, the backhaul option is to retain the 500 terajoules of backhaul on Union, and then obtain incremental backhaul of an additional somewhere around 500 terajoules; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  This analysis was looking at sort of what we characterized as full backhaul or full forward-haul, and for that sort of incremental quantity that you mentioned, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the build option was to drop the backhaul and to contract with Union?

MR. EMOND:  To both -- well, both involved contracting with Union.  The backhaul would involve contracting for Dawn-to-Dawn service on Union.  The forward-haul would require M12 on Union, plus expansion of TransCanada's system from Parkway to Maple.

MR. SMITH:  And if I ask you to turn to page 5, this is where you are looking at the sensitivities.  And if we look down the bottom bullet, Great Lakes Gas Transmission expansion costs for the incremental 500 dekatherms of backhaul was estimated to be approximately $600 million; correct?

MR. EMOND:  Correct, with the question mark at the end.  And I think that was indicative that our internal thinking at the time was there wasn't a lot of science or reliability behind that number, but certainly substantial dollars, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And this was the best information you had at the time when you prepared the presentation?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, can I ask you to turn to the compendium, Exhibit 10.1?

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. Smith, just before you leave that slide, if you could just put it back up again?

I'm assuming that the Great Lakes Gas Transmission backhaul option would have indirectly reflected the 600 million estimated capital cost?

MR. EMOND:  In our analysis, yes, it did.

MS. TAYLOR:  So with the important point being that that capital cost would not necessarily be entirely borne by the ratepayers of Ontario; is that correct?  To the extent that they didn't use all of that capability, others would have been responsible for it?

I just want to make sure that I understand that there is 600 million potentially of cost, but the Ontario ratepayer wouldn't necessarily bear all of it?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct.  That would become part of their rate base, and pursuant to their cost-allocation methodology it would be recovered from their customers.

But we did, in our analysis, assume that cost was there, and we also, in looking at it, we took the -- I'm not sure if it's on that slide, but we assumed the back-haul rate on Great Lakes was their full recourse rate, and I think it is 31 cents, something in that range.

In fact, what we ended up getting on Great Lakes was a rate averaging about 8 cents, so it ended up being much less costly than what we had analyzed at the time for the existing 500 million of back-haul that we have on Great Lakes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. EMOND:  You're welcome.

MR. SMITH:  And this was a contract that you had with your affiliate?

MR. EMOND:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it in -- further to Ms. Taylor's question, that while the full $600 million might not have been borne by Ontario customers, certainly some portion of it would have been?

MR. EMOND:  Yes.  I think that's fair, but we have not requested Great Lakes pursue this option.

As you're aware, we are building some forward-haul capacity, which is consistent with the conclusions out of this analysis.

MR. SMITH:  And let me --


MR. STRINGER:  Maybe I would just like to add, Mr. Smith, that, you know, if you look at our response to Union IR 13, we highlight the cost difference, based on our current requirements on our system of taking the Dawn-to-Dawn service and utilizing a Great Lakes St. Clair-to-Emerson contract, versus taking out incremental Union TCPL and expanding our system facilities.

And so the lower-cost option has been to use the Great Lakes St. Clair-to-Emerson service, relative to a 10-year commitment for TBO capacity on the Union Gas system, as well as expanding our own facilities.

And, you know, one thing to be cognizant of, as well, with respect to the contract between St. Clair and Emerson is it is relatively short-term.  I don't have the exact end-date of that contract in front of me, but I think it's perhaps expires in 2014, but we can -- you know, we're always assessing the lowest-cost means of moving gas away from that area.  And so if we determine that an expansion and corresponding TBO on the Union system is ultimately the lowest-cost option, then we have the ability to de-contract on the Great Lakes system and move to that option.

But, you know, that contract also gives us the flexibility to adapt to other things happening on the system, such as potential bypass, which we have seen evidence of here.  And so it wouldn't necessarily be prudent to be taking out 10 years of Union TBO and expanding our facilities when there is a possibility that we may be bypassed on the short-haul portion of our system.

MR. SMITH:  You're talking about -- when you say "bypass" I take it what you're talking about is Union's Parkway extension project?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Am I correct, sir, that Union bid into your own competing open season?

MR. STRINGER:  The results of that open season are not public.  We're still in the precedent agreement stage.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't you answer my question by way of undertaking filed confidentially?

I am correct, am I not, sir, that Union bid into your competing open season?  And you can answer that by way of undertaking confidentially, if you wish.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. CAMERON:  I don't know if we need an undertaking.  I am going to see if I can -- just to avoid the couple cumbersomeness of a confidential undertaking, because it appears that Mr. Smith is making the assertion and is thus not concerned about the confidentiality of the fact that Union bid into the –-

MR. SMITH:  I am certainly not concerned about it.  The witness has said several times that Union appears to be bypassing.

I would have thought the fact that Union is bidding into TCPL's open season is evidence they just want it done by somebody.

So I'm not concerned about the confidentiality of Union's bid into TCPL's open season.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, I will ask the witnesses, then, through you, Madam Chair, to consider if Union's willing to waive the confidentiality of the fact that they bid into the open season, is TransCanada prepared to confirm that?

And if they're not, then we will do it confidentially.

If they are prepared, then they can answer the question.

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  Union did bid into the open season.

MR. SMITH:  Returning to the Northern Ontario Line, it is no secret, sir, that TransCanada is actively looking at converting a portion of the Mainline to oil service; correct?

MR. BELL:  TransCanada is currently in the commercial evaluation phase and technical evaluation phase of determining whether or not conversion of a portion of the Northern Ontario Line to oil service is commercially viable.

We're also at the same time looking at the technical viability and what that would mean in terms of the current service that we have on the Northern Ontario Line and the current capacity.

MR. SMITH:  And indeed, the CEO of TransCanada said at the company's annual meeting:  We are going to actively pursue it and see if we can turn it into an opportunity for both the oil and gas industry and TransCanada.

And that was, of course, a true statement by him?

MR. BELL:  I think that's fair, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it that this is, then, something that is being pursued by members of management who are working away on this project?

MR. BELL:  Yes.  As I said, we're currently having discussions with interested parties in the marketplace to determine whether or not there's commercial viability, whether this project could get legs.

And at the same time, we've launched into the technical review phase to determine what technical limitations there may be, if any, and as an output of that analysis will determine what that would mean, in terms of capability on the pipeline.

And we've told customers that -- you know, that once we determine that, if it looks like this project is going to get legs, once we determined if there is going to be an impact, then we will be consulting with our customers.

MR. SMITH:  And those discussions you've talked about are -- include discussions internally at TCPL at the senior management level?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BELL:  I am not aware of the details of those discussions, but I assume there's senior management discussions.

MR. SMITH:  And there's senior management discussions because this is a significant issue which could have substantial impact on the direction of the Mainline and the Mainline's capacity going forward; correct?

MR. BELL:  I think there is a number of reasons that it would be -- involve discussions with senior management.

You know, as I said -- you know, this is -- we're evaluating this.  If the project turns out to be viable, the soonest we can have it on-stream is by 2017.

It does represent an opportunity, as Mr. Girling said, you know, in his press release, it represents a significant opportunity to TransCanada.  And again, once we determine, if this project is going to be viable and we understand better the impact on the Mainline capacity, we'd be communicating that.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to TCPL 6?

You were asked about presentations that were made by senior management.  Over on page 3 of 3, we'll see the answer.  This is K.

What you say is that:

"There are seven documents created over the last three years which relate to potential disposition or redeployment of Mainline facilities.  These documents are presentations prepared for TransCanada senior management."

Then you say:
"They cannot be provided on a series of bases."

I am going to ask you to please produce those.

MR. CAMERON:  We object to the production of that, at the very least, along with this line of questioning, on the basis of relevance in this proceeding.

We understand and have from the time of the information requests understood the connection that Union draws between TransCanada's investigation of the possibility of converting part of its system to the transportation of oil and the availability of capacity to provide alternatives to Union's loss of critical unit protection.

That said, the project itself is at a very preliminary stage.  It's a project that would not have any impact until, as the witness said, 2017 at the earliest and, thus, isn't material to the alternatives that Union -- sorry, TransCanada is proposing.

Secondly, these are, as the answer says, senior management presentations that are highly confidential and commercially sensitive, and given, A, the stage of the investigation that we are at, as Mr. Smith and I have agreed, which is just trying to prompt discussions among the parties; and B, the relevant -- sorry, the relative irrelevance of this particular project to those projects because of its uncertainty and its distance in time; and C, because of the commercial sensitivity of them -- I acknowledge the Board has a manner of receiving sensitive documents, but they -- I don't think that justifies a fishing expedition into an irrelevant issue.

So we would object to the production of those.

MR. SMITH:  If I may respond?

If you take each of the bases upon which are identified in this answer to interrogatory as the basis for refusing to produce the documents, in my submission, none of them withstands any degree of scrutiny.

First, the documents can't possibly be privileged, and I don't hear my friend now suggesting they are.

Second, with respect to confidentiality, obviously the Board has procedures to deal with that, and equally with respect to commercial sensitivity.

The fact that they are presentations prepared by senior management, of course, is no basis for objection.  Union has produced, in this proceeding alone, a number of presentations made directly to its board of directors by senior management, all of which, of course, would be presentations prepared by senior management.

So this Board has regularly ordered presentations made to senior management, and for good reason.  Presentations made to senior management are those sort of presentations which, by their very nature, attract the highest degree of thoughtfulness and preparation.  So that can't possibly be a basis for objection.

As to the fact that it is at a preliminary stage, obviously anything that comes out of this will have to be borne with that in mind.  But as this Board will know from this proceeding, yes, we're talking about Parkway West; but clearly one of the features of the evidence we're hearing from TCPL is the volume of the northern Ontario line, which is said to be considerable, and we've also heard from my friends to the right about gas supply, to no short length, about availability on the northern Ontario line and capacity to be contracting in a different manner.

So in my submission, there is no proper basis to refuse production of these documents and I would ask that they be produced.

MS. HARE:  And the relevance and importance of those documents to this proceeding?

MR. SMITH:  Well, the answer to that is in my final submission.  My friends are clearly not limiting their questions, when they talk about gas supply or, frankly, many other topics, to 2013 only.

I mean, if this proceeding were that - and I don't mean this in a pejorative way - pure, there would be many questions that would be outside the scope of relevance.  But of course we've looked at coal conversion and when that is going to happen, and the correctness or accuracy of Union's forecast of contract demand.  We have looked at gas supply.

In my submission, all of this, of course, is going to have to be borne in mind when we look at the information, but it is not an answer to point to 2017 and say that this is completely irrelevant, particularly where, in this very case, if you turn over the next page, my friends did provide one document which is said to be an impact of removing the Canadian Mainline, and we will talk about this, but it is not the presentation.

So my friends have acknowledged, in answering the question, the relevance of it, and so I don't see it as a basis to object at this point.

MS. HARE:  Are there any other parties that want to make a submission on this issue?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think I will stay out of this one, Madam Chair.

[Laughter]

MR. QUINN:  I guess I would like to submit, because -- and I'm looking at yesterday's transcript.  This was from just my recollection, but I thought yesterday -- and I will ask Mr. Smith if he wants to obviously respond, but he had indicated the confidentiality -- when talking about documents and TransCanada's ability to see them, confidentiality may be addressable, but there may be concerns about confidentiality of that document and whether all parties who have executed a confidentiality agreement would be entitled to see it in unusual circumstances.

And I'm not sure necessarily whether that would fit in this category.  I would have to reflect upon it, but, in the unusual circumstances, parties who have direct competing interests are precluded from seeing even confidential documents.

MR. SMITH:  I don't disagree with that.  The solution to that is usually -- I don't know if this would fit into this category, because this isn't a contract where you would have a potential third party, contracting party, who would want access to it.

But even if it were, the solution to that that is usually arrived at is you make it counsel eyes only, and if that is the way this shakes out, that's fine, too.  Then we wouldn't distribute it generally at Union.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  I just wanted to bring it to your attention.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cameron.

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, I will have some reply comments.  Do you mind if I consult with my client very briefly before I make submissions?

MS. HARE:  Yes, please go ahead.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.

[Mr. Cameron consults with client]
Further submissions by Mr. Cameron:

MR. CAMERON:  I think probably the main issue is what TransCanada has consistently said is the purpose of its involvement in this hearing, which is to daylight some options and prompt some interaction between the companies.

Nobody, including Union, needs access to confidential management information about potential conversion of the facilities to deal with that.  It is not relevant to any of the alternatives we have proposed.

We have not proposed use of the northern Ontario line to replace loss of critical unit protection for any period other than the immediate future while the Parkway corridor develops, and so by 2017 there could be ten compressors at Parkway and no use of the northern Ontario line.  It is just not part of what we are proposing.

Thirdly, privilege is asserted.  There is a legal privilege asserted with respect to these documents.  And I will make this observation as an officer of this tribunal, as opposed to someone giving evidence.

These presentations were requested in the National Energy Board proceeding that is now ongoing.  There was a motion for their production, and the National Energy Board denied production on the basis that even in that hearing, where they were considerably more relevant or potentially relevant, that in that hearing the modest relevance of it and immateriality, because of the speculative nature of the project, didn't warrant production of the documents.

But TransCanada did produce the most useful of these, which is the document you now see on your screen, "Impact of Removing Canadian Mainlines", which is the one that you want to look at if you want to get the facts on this as opposed to management considering costs of what this would involve and competitive alternatives, including Spectra, in this type of project.

So we've produced the helpful document and it has everything in it.  As a matter of fact, it has much more in it than any of the others on what you want to know about the impact of removing the lines.

So for all those reasons, we would just submit it is not -- doesn't warrant the production.  It is not appropriate that they be produced.

Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, just following on Mr. Cameron's comment, is the reason for the -- for your request to produce the actual presentations that you think there is a divergence in the presentations from the statements or representations in the "Impact of removing Canadian Mainlines" document?

MR. SMITH:  Well, to be perfectly frank about it, I don't know.  I mean, I don't know because I don't have the document.  I mean, I just -- I know from my own experience and in dealing with these matters, that of course there is a different level of precision sometimes attached to presentations that are made to senior management.

I have no indication of what's in the presentation, so I can't say one way or the other.

I mean, I appreciate what my friend is saying.  I don't know the approach that the National Energy Board took to this question.  I don't know on what basis it was put.  I don't know what the arguments were.

So very difficult for me to respond to that submission.

The one thing I would say is I don't agree with my friend that having filed evidence, answered interrogatories, brought a motion to compel Union to answer interrogatories, put witnesses forward who have been examined on a broad range of topics beyond the options, it is open to my friend at this stage to say that we are agreed that we have a narrow mandate in this proceeding.  I just don't think that that is on.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm not sure that is the issue that the Board is faced with here.

MR. SMITH:  Let me just say this.  I mean, my friend says this is 2017 and we're looking at a period of time up to 2017.

That is akin to saying we should put off today what we might not have to do tomorrow, and to the extent the Board wants to see the full range and how the future might play out, is this germane to that question?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I can see that.  I am just wondering what, in addition to the document that has been produced, what is the incremental probative value.

MR. SMITH:  I can make it very simple.  I don't know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I am prepared to proceed absent the documents, because that is what I have prepared.  And I am happy to do that, if that is the Board's direction.

But I wouldn't mind a ruling on it, because this issue has -- you know, these sorts of things have a way of turning around.  So I wouldn't mind a ruling.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

We will take our morning break now, and we will take a little bit longer as we discuss the issue.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't think I will be too much longer, so if it is okay with the Board, I might as well just bring up the next panel and they will sit in the back until we're ready for them.

MS. HARE:  Oh, sure.  They can sit in the back.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will try to be back by maybe 20 after 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.
RULING:


MS. HARE:  Thank you, please be seated.


Similar to yesterday's ruling on the disclosure of the memorandum of understanding, the Board believes that the incremental probative value of requiring production of the seven TCPL documents is limited, especially in light of the testimony of these witnesses on the subject and the summary of options already on the record filed as K9.3.


Having ruled on the issue based on assistance to the Board in determining the issues of relevance to this case, we do not have to comment further on privilege, confidentiality, or commercial sensitivity.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, then, if you could resume?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Thank you, members of the Board.


Panel members, can I ask you to turn to the presentation, then, at attachment to Union's 6?


I just want to make sure that I have this correct.  So this is the document entitled "Impact of Removing Canadian Mainlines", and this is what we would be talking about in terms of the NOL conversion; correct?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  So if we look down at the bottom, the assessment at least at the time of this document -- and I believe this was April of 2012; is that correct?


MR. EMOND:  March 1st, 2012.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So if we look down at the bottom, feasibility of line removal, the northern Ontario line has a medium feasibility.  Have I got that correct?


MR. EMOND:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Now, as I understand it, if we turn over to page 3, there are, as part of the northern Ontario line, three lines, the 30-inch, the 36-inch and the 42-inch line; correct?


MR. EMOND:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And am I right that the conversion would involve the removal of lines 2 and 3?


MR. EMOND:  Definitely it would not involve removal of two lines.  We are assessing the removal of one line.  Which line has not been established.  That's still subject to what commercial arrangements for transportation of oil we might end up with, if the project is even feasible.


MR. SMITH:  And just so that we have it, then, on the record, I understand that if you were to remove line 1, that would be the 400 MMcfd or 0.4 of a Bcf?


MR. EMOND:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And then line 2, that would be just under a Bcf?


MR. EMOND:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And is there a possibility you would remove line 3?


MR. EMOND:  It is certainly a possibility.  It is hard to say at this point.  It depends, again, on the commercial requirements on the oil side.


MR. SMITH:  And if that were to happen, that would be 1.4 Bcf?


MR. EMOND:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Now, I ought to have asked you this earlier and I apologize.  We were going through a number of presentations to Enbridge and others, and I would ask you where we would see in those presentations the impact on Union customers and Union rates of throughput moving to TCPL's Hamilton line.  Is that reflected in there?


MR. EMOND:  I'm sorry, Mr. Smith, I wonder if you could repeat the question.  I didn't quite follow that.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I didn't see in your presentations to Enbridge, for example, the impact on Union rates if throughput were to move to your Hamilton line.


MR. BELL:  I think that we haven't included that.  That's not included in any of the presentations that we've presented, and it would depend upon the volume that was actually contracted to move on that line.


However, most likely the impact would be loss of long-haul transportation that's currently being delivered to Alberta.  So it wouldn't be a loss of throughput on the Union system.  It would be a loss of long-haul transportation from Alberta to the market.  That's the likely outcome.


It depends on whether or not there is incremental market which is developed to serve that particular load, in which case there would not be any impact in terms of de-contracting on Union.  It would be a new path for incremental supply, supplying Ontario or Toronto markets.


MR. SMITH:  Let me just pick up on that.  Two questions.


First, when you turned back capacity on Union, did you do an analysis of the impact on Union's rates?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. EMOND:  I don't believe we did.  The bulk of our turnback of Union capacity - this would be Dawn to Kirkwall capacity - was originally contracted by TransCanada for deliveries to Kirkwall, and then on for export at Niagara and Chippewa.


We've lost virtually all of that load at Niagara and Chippewa, and in fact the volumes -- the capacity is now being looked at being turned around.


So it was the loss of our contracts that caused TransCanada to drop the M12 to Kirkwall.


MR. SMITH:  Let me just ask a second question in relation to this issue.


Mr. Bell, we saw in the presentations to Enbridge -- I don't think there is any controversy about this point.  We saw in the presentations a pitch by TCPL for Enbridge to diversify away from reliance on Union's transportation; correct?


MR. BELL:  Again, I don't think I would characterize it that way.  I mean, we're looking at bringing in supply from a different supply base, Marcellus or Utica shale.  We have been asked by customers to -- that have an interest, to bring supply to those markets.  And we've evaluated kind of the least-cost alternative of bringing that supply into Toronto.


And the advantage of utilizing our existing assets, the Hamilton line, and delivering that volume into the Ontario market, the Toronto market, is it gives, in fact, increased -- it gives an alternative path for security of supply at a very low cost and direct connection to this new supply source.


MR. SMITH:  Sir, I think this is a pretty straightforward proposition.  When you're talking about alternative, what you're talking about is throughput that would be on your Hamilton line and not Union's.  You've already agreed with that.  Correct?


MR. BELL:  I think that's fair, yes.


MR. SMITH:  And there's an impact of that on Union and I am asking you:  Did you assess that impact?


MR. BELL:  Well, I think I just answered the question that we did not evaluate that, because we believe that the impact is going to be lost long-haul transportation.  There's going to be displacement of long-haul transportation.


If there's gas comes into -- gas comes in to serve this market and there is not incremental market for it to serve, the first supply that gets displaced is WCSB supply, because it is the most expensive.


MR. SMITH:  Can we talk about some of your services for a minute?  And we can go through this, I hope, relatively quickly and wrap this up.


If we look at my compendium, 10.1, I just want to identify some documents.  So at page 1 of the compendium, do we have a description of your FT, firm transportation, service from TCPL's website?


MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And over at page 3, we have your current firm transportation toll schedule?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And am I right that in order to access this service, the shipper must bid for service through an open season and sign an FT contract?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  If we have existing capacity for firm transportation, then it's done through our existing capacity open season process, and if new facilities are required, that would be done through a new capacity open season.

MR. SMITH:  And one of the attributes is there's a minimum renewal term of a year?

MR. STRINGER:  That's right.  A customer, on six months' notice, can opt to renew or not renew a contract.

MR. SMITH:  Am I right, when we talk about capacity and facilities, that TCPL will expand its facilities with a long-term FT commitment of 10 years or longer for either long-haul or short-haul paths?  Is that correct?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  If we have to add facilities on our system, then that requires a minimum 10-year term.

MR. SMITH:  And you bill on a monthly demand charge basis?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that is distance-based?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And other than the elimination of FT RAM, which you have proposed in your current Mainline application, are there any changes to this service being proposed in that application?

I don't believe so.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRINGER:  No changes to the service features.

MR. SMITH:  If I can ask you to turn to page 15, and this is the description of STFT from the website; is that correct?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look over at page 17, have I got the toll schedule correct there?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, you do.

MR. SMITH:  And am I right that in order to access this service, the shippers must bid through an open season by submitting a completed Exhibit A form to the toll schedule, indicating the quantity and transportation path and the price of their bid?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  And that is based on the available capacity, again, on the system.  So it's not a service we construct for.

So we hold -- we'll hold an open season -- in fact, we're just closing one today, I think -- but we'll hold an open season for the winter season, commencing in July.

MR. SMITH:  And we --


MR. STRINGER:  In the latter half of July, and then we offer up the individual winter months, and then as we move closer to the winter months we offer up a weekly service.

MR. SMITH:  And we see that at item 2.2 on page 19:  "Facilities construction policy."

You indicate it utilizes existing capacity and it is understood that you are not going to construct additional facilities for the purpose of providing this; correct?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that there are no renewal rights for this service?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that the minimum bid price for this service is 100 percent of the firm transportation toll?

MR. STRINGER:  As it stands now, that's right.  The current minimum bid floor is 100 percent.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will come to that.

And the maximum bid?  There is no maximum bid?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And can you confirm that the minimum bids that you are proposing in relation to this service in your Mainline application are 140 percent for services offered for a full winter or summer, or longer?

MR. STRINGER:  So the proposal would be that a full season would be priced -- or would have a minimum bid floor of 140 percent.  The monthly bids would be priced -- or have a minimum bid floor, rather, of 150 percent, and bids with the term of seven days, which is our minimum bid term, would have a bid floor of 160 percent, but we're also asking for the discretion to offer that price below the or at the 100 percent FT toll.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a discretion that would be reserved to TransCanada?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I right that the reason why you are proposing an increase in your floor price is to encourage shippers to contract FT long-haul?

MR. STRINGER:  The purpose is to increase the value of FT service, relative to shorter-term services.

MR. SMITH:  And can I ask you to turn to page --


MR. STRINGER:  I would also add it's also to optimize revenue to the system, overall to the benefit of all shippers by -- with the objective of lowering tolls.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 47?

Am I correct that this is the interruptible firm transportation description from your website?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And page 49, we have the toll schedule; is that correct, sir?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And is it fair to describe this service as a daily blanket interruptible transportation service?

MR. STRINGER:  It could be bid for a daily service, correct.

MR. SMITH:  And in order to access this service, you have to sign a master IT contract with TransCanada?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the way you do -- the way you bid is by placing a nomination on the TransCanada electronic bulletin board on a daily basis, indicating quantity, path and the price?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the way you award IT service is based on price?

MR. STRINGER:  Based on the -- on the bid price; that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that the current minimum toll for IT service is 110 percent of the FT toll?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And there is no maximum?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that in your Mainline application, your proposed minimum bid price is 160 percent of the FT toll?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  And as with the short-term firm services, we are seeking the discretion to lower that floor to 100 percent.

MR. SMITH:  And again, that is a discretion reserved for TransCanada?

MR. SMITH:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Am I correct that under your Mainline redesign, equally there would be no maximum IT bid price?

MR. STRINGER:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Now, page 61, have I got the STS service
-- sorry, page 59, I think, is the STS service description from your website; is that correct?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And page 61 is where we find the toll schedule?

MR. STRINGER:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I right that STS is a service allowing for injections and withdrawals at storage locations?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I am equally correct, sir, that an STS contract holder must also hold a long-haul FT contract to their market point?

MR. STRINGER:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  And am I right that one of the key features and benefits identified by TCPL of holding an STS agreement is that it offers additional nomination windows?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, four additional nomination windows on top of the four standard NAESB nomination windows.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  So you have under STS eight nomination windows, as opposed to four?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it that the reason for that is to better balance daily gas supply and consumption?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  To better allow the holders of that service to balance -- it's held by our Canadian LDC customers.  And that's correct, it is used to help them balance the gas consumption in that franchise.

MR. SMITH:  You anticipated my question.  I'm right, just picking up on your last point, that all or substantially all of your STS is used by utilities; correct?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  Union Gas, Enbridge Gas Distribution and Gaz Métro would hold the service.

MR. SMITH:  And can you confirm for me that injections and withdrawals are firm?

Maybe I can be a bit more precise:  Dependent on the season and location?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  So for example, winter injections to the WDA would be interruptible, given that you're using peak day capacity, but withdrawals in winter would be firm and in the expected direction; is that right?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Can you confirm that one of the other attributes of STS is that there is a renewal term of one year, with six months' prior notice?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes, as with FT service.

MR. SMITH:  And that in order for TransCanada to expand its facilities, you need a long-term STS commitment of 10 years?

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  Again, whenever we expand our facilities, we record our long-term contractual commitment with a minimum term of ten years.

MR. SMITH:  And, equally, this is a service that is billed on a monthly demand charge basis?

MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I right that there are no proposed changes to this service in your Mainline application, aside from the elimination of RAM?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  There are no proposed changes to the service features.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the panel.  Those are my questions.

Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  Mr. Emond, K10.3, you had wanted to provide some context to this presentation.  I am not sure whether or not you think you had the opportunity to do that in answering the questions.

If there is more that you would like to share with the Board about this presentation, we would be pleased to hear from you.

MR. EMOND:  As I recollect, what I wanted to mention is that Enbridge had -- had informed us that they had some concerns about the reliance of so much of their peak day demand on one source, being the Union delivery at Parkway.

And there were other concerns at the time in terms of direct sellers and the firmness of upstream supply, but that was one thing that Enbridge had mentioned to us.

So when we, in our presentations, went back and were pointing out that reliance and alternatives to get gas to Enbridge via a separate path to increase their security of supply on a peak day, it was, to some degree, in response to Enbridge indicating to us that that was a concern of theirs.

I think that is the gist of what I wanted to mention.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I also recall Mr. Smith saying that this is an 80-page presentation.  I don't know if you had the chance to refresh your memory and look at the rest of it.  So maybe -- if you have it, maybe by way of undertaking you can look at the rest of the presentation and make a determination as to whether or not the full presentation should be filed with the Board.

MR. EMOND:  I did have a chance this morning, very quickly, to go through a few of the slides.  I don't believe we would have any problem at all putting the full presentation on the record.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Let's do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.1:  TO PROVIDE FULL COPY OF PRESENTATION in Exhibit K10.3.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cameron, do you have re-direct?

MR. CAMERON:  I have no re-direct.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you very much, witnesses.  You are excused.

[Witness panel withdraws]

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, could you introduce your next panel?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I would ask that Mr. Tetreault, Mr. Pankrac and Ms. Robinson please come forward to be sworn.  This is cost allocation and rate design.  Stevenson, sorry.  It is Robin Stevenson, not Robinson.  My apologies.

Members of the Panel, I just had a brief discussion with Mr. Cameron.  You will recall at the outset of Mr. Quinn's examination, an exhibit showing TCPL's Mainline system was marked as an exhibit, K9.7.

We have also from TransCanada a further description that actually is a bit more precise, in that it breaks down the various Union -- so this was K9.7, but we have one that breaks down the various Union delivery areas, Kingston, Kitchener, Enbridge's delivery areas and GMI, and it may be of assistance to the Board to have that document on the record.  So I would just ask that it be marked.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  On the screen you will see the document.

MR. MILLAR:  K10.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.4:  MAP OF TCPL's Mainline system SHOWING BREAKDOWN OF UNION DELIVERY AREAS.

MR. MILLAR:  Will you be providing copies, Mr. Smith?  I see we have some.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is it in colour?

MR. SMITH:  Oh, yes, it's on the screen.   It is in colour.

MS. TAYLOR:  I have it in my office on the wall.

MR. SMITH:  I have a copy of Union's system up on my wall in my office, and, shockingly, people have not asked me for copies.

MS. HARE:  I should also mention that one of the panel members has another meeting over lunch, so we will have to break at 12:20, and we will come back at about five to 2:00.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, good afternoon.  That raises a scheduling issue for some of the intervenors.  Both Mr. Aiken and I have commitments tomorrow, and our total cross is supposed to be about four-and-a-half hours.  So we were going to try to jam it in, but it looks like that is not going to be possible.

MS. HARE:  Well, even if we come back at 1:30, which isn't possible, you wouldn't have jammed it up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we would have tried to talk fast and get it in.

MS. HARE:  Well, maybe you can try to talk fast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder -- we'll have to talk about scheduling, then.  Is it possible that the Board can make a determination now as to whether we're coming back on Monday?

MS. HARE:  Yes.  We have already discussed that this morning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understood it was being left open.  That's what I heard.

MS. HARE:  If we finish tomorrow, then we don't have to come back Monday.  If we are not finished tomorrow, we're coming back Monday.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, thank you.

MR. CAMERON:  On scheduling, Madam Chair - and I apologize for interrupting the swearing in - I have substantially reduced and offered the possibility of eliminating entirely my cross-examination of this panel, but to make a determination on that, I have to consult with my client.

So with your leave, I will exit the hearing room now for that purpose.

MS. HARE:  That would be fine.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 7

Harold Pankrac, Sworn


Robin Stevenson, Sworn


Greg Tetreault, Sworn
Examination-in-chief by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Ms. Stevenson, why don't we start with you?

I understand that you are the team leader, product and services costing for Union Gas Limited?

MS. STEVENSON:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you have held since 2011?

MS. STEVENSON:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were team lead gas management services?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you began your career with Union Gas in 2001 as a pricing analyst?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have a master's of business administration from the University of Windsor?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor of commerce degree from Queen's University?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And this is your first appearance before the Board?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  Welcome.  I understand that you were responsible or assisted in the preparation of the cost allocation evidence and the rate design evidence in this proceeding -- or cost allocation evidence?  I should be more precise.

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. STEVENSON:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And, equally, did you assist or were you responsible for the preparation of answers to interrogatories in relation to that cost allocation evidence?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. STEVENSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Tetreault, I understand that you are the manager of rates and pricing for Union Gas?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you have held since 2008?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you began your career in -- with Union Gas in 1998; is that correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you held positions of increasing responsibility at Union since that time?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a bachelor of commerce degree, finance, from the University of Windsor?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor of arts degree in geography from that same university?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  You have testified before this Board on approximately half a dozen occasions, most recently in Union's 2007 -– 2011-0038 case?

MR. TETREAULT:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And were you responsible or did you assist in Union Gas's -- in the preparation of Union Gas's cost allocation and rate design evidence?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt that evidence, sir, for the purposes of here today?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Equally, were you responsible for the preparation of answers to interrogatories in relation to that evidence?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that, sir, for the purposes of testifying before the Board?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Pankrac, I gather that you are the team leader, rates and pricing?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  You have held that position since 1999?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you began your career with Union Gas in 1984 as a rate design analyst; is that correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I gather that you have a bachelor of arts degree in mathematics from McGill University?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that you have testified before this Board on three separate occasions?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  Most recently some time ago in the EBRO-499 case?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  And do I understand, sir, that you are responsible or assisted in the preparation of Union's rate design evidence?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. PANKRAC:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, answers to interrogatories in relation to that evidence, were you responsible for the preparation of those, or assist in that?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt those for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. PANKRAC:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Members of the Board, I have no examination-in-chief for this panel, and I would tender them for cross-examination.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

So who is first, then?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I think I'm first.  I will endeavour to speak quickly.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


Good afternoon, witnesses.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and my questions today are entirely focussed on your redesign of the general service rates, 01, 10, M1 and M2.

So your most current version of this proposal is Exhibit H1, tab 1, an update filed on July 13th; is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could bring that out.  I'm going to take you through some of that.

I am going to be referring, members of the Panel, to that document, plus our compendium of materials, which I wonder if we could get an exhibit number for.

MR. MILLAR:  K10.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.5:  SEC COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Tetreault, I suspect most of these questions are for you.

I wonder if you could turn to page 2 of our materials, which is from your evidence; it is actually from your update, I believe.

And this, pages 2, 3 and 4 are your current proposals for rates for 2013 for 01, 10, M1 and M2; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  Yes, they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I see that these talk about the change from your January 1st, 2011 rates, but those are not your current approved rates, are they?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, they are not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we have included as pages 5, 6 and 7 of our materials excerpts from EB-2012-0249, which is your June QRAM.

Can you confirm that these are your current rates, your current approved rates for those classes?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  And so I wonder if I could just ask you to take a look at a couple of things.  Let's start with page 2 of our materials, and you want to keep your finger in page 5.

Page 2 of our materials, the monthly charge for 01 is $21, and we see on page 5 it is currently $21.  So you are not proposing to increase that; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  However, the monthly delivery charges, you are proposing to increase them quite substantially.

So for example, if you take a look on page 2, your first block is 9.72 cents, but your current rate for that is 7.51 cents; isn't that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's almost -- that's a 29.4 percent increase in that block?

MR. TETREAULT:  For that particular block, that seems about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think if we go through all the blocks, we'll see that the rates are all very large increases.

So for example, if you take the top block, which is – you're proposing 8.1939 cents.  It is currently 6.0285 cents; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think I have lost your reference, Mr. Shepherd.  Are you still on page 2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, look at the largest block in 01, which is over 1,000 cubic metres.  It is 8.1939, is what you are proposing for 2013; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  I have it now.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the current rate for that block is 6.0285 cents; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so that's a 36 percent increase; right?  Roughly?

MR. TETREAULT:  Roughly, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In fact, all of your volumetric rates are going up by very substantial margins under your proposal; right?  For that class?

MR. TETREAULT:  Certainly for Rate 01, each block is going up by the 1.9556 that you see on page 2 of your compendium.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually going up by more than that, though; right?  Because you're comparing it to 2011, but actually 2012 is lower; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's fair, depending on the comparator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's actually going up by about 2.15 cents for every block; right?  Roughly?

MR. TETREAULT:  Sure.  Subject to check, yes, I would agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if we did the same thing with Rate 10 and with Rate M1 and with Rate M2, we'd also see no increase in the fixed charge, but very substantial increases in all of the volumetric rates for all blocks; correct?

MR. TETREAULT:  There are increases as proposed in all blocks of the rate classes that you mentioned.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And those increases, the lowest that I could find was 11.4 percent and the highest I could find was 55.7 percent for the various blocks.

Does that sound about right to you?  Or will you accept that, subject to check?

MR. TETREAULT:  I will accept that, subject to check.  I don't have the ability to compare the two documents.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So here's what I want to understand from this.

These are big increases in volumetric rates, and I had understood your deficiency is somewhere around six percent; right?  It's in that range?  It is like 58 million on a billion, something like that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I believe the phase II deficiency is in the neighbourhood of 54-and-a-half million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it is not more than six percent; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's fair, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So why is it, then, that all these volumetric rates are going up by double digits, some of them by huge amounts?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think what you're seeing is a reflection of the revenue deficiency by operating area, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand that.  Help me understand that.

MR. TETREAULT:  So if I could -- if I could take you to Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. TETREAULT:  On -- sorry, do you have that, sir?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do.

MR. TETREAULT:  On line 7 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of what page?

MR. TETREAULT:  I am on page 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, schedule 1?  Sorry.

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, sorry.  Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. TETREAULT:  What you will see in total for the north on line 7, column F, is a proposed deficiency for recovery of approximately 30.6 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. TETREAULT:  And if we move down the page to essentially the bottom of that page, line 19, as it relates to south delivery and storage rates, you will see there is -- I'm sorry.  I should speak to line 18.

On line 18 of that schedule, column F, you will see that the south delivery and storage revenue deficiency for recovery is approximately 25 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And how does that get us to 35 percent increases in volumetric rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  My point in bringing you to this exhibit and describing that is to -- is to point out that the revenue deficiency by operating area is different.

So in the case of the north, we have a situation where revenues are declining, volumes are declining, and yet the allocated costs to that operating area are increasing.

So you have that occurring and, therefore, we're seeing a greater revenue deficiency in the north than the south.  And I would suggest to you that that is -- that's a partial explanation for some of the volumetric rate changes that you're seeing in the rate classes we're looking at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So 30.6 million on 179 is about 18 percent.  So how does that get you to 35 percent?

MR. PANKRAC:  The 35 percent that you are quoting is actually just on the volumetric part of the rate.  So, for example, there are parts of the rate that have not changed.

So if you stay with that same schedule that we just turned up, Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1, that same page, if you look at, for example, the Rate 01 increase, you will see in column I that actually, to the class, when you consider all components of the rate, for Rate 01 that amounts to a 14.9 percent increase and for Rate M1 that amounts to a 4.4 percent increase, because a significant part of the rate hasn't changed.

The part of the rate that recovers customer-related costs hasn't changed.  And so you were just looking at the volumetric part of the rate, but when you look at the whole rate, the impacts are as stated in our evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your proposed rate design for 2013 shifts some of the class costs from the smaller volume customers to the larger volume customers by saying to the smaller volume customers their bill is not going to increase as much as the larger volume customers; right?  That's the effect of that?

MR. PANKRAC:  No.  There is no shift.

Our rate design is based on the allocated costs, and the allocated costs are determined by rate class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then within the class you have to decide who pays; right?  And you have decided the smaller volume customers won't pay as much as the larger volume customers; correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  The rate design, as you can see in that previous schedule which showed constant increases by block, in fact are to preserve the interblock differentials and to preserve the relative relationship to cost.  So it is really not a function of size.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, except that the customer that has annual -- the residential customer, for example, with annual use of 2,000 cubic metres has about -- in the north, about a 12 percent increase in their delivery bill.  But the school with 30,000 has a 32 percent rate increase; isn't that correct?

MR. PANKRAC:  Can you point me to evidence that shows that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm asking you whether it is right.  I am not giving evidence here.  I am asking whether it is right.  Is it right?

MS. HARE:  Perhaps you could ask for an undertaking for exactly that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to, Madam Chair.  I was hoping that the witness would have -- because what I want to know is:  Did they even look at this when they did the rate design?  Apparently the answer is no.

So can you give us an undertaking to compare the increase that you are proposing for 2013 for a user with 30,000 and a user with 2,000 cubic metres for 01 and M1?  Can you do that?

MR. SMITH:  Well --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not complicated; right?

MR. SMITH:  Of course we can do it.  We will do it.  As to the balance of my friend's comments in his submissions asking for the undertaking, I make no comment.  We're happy to give the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J10.2:  TO COMPARE INCREASE PROPOSED FOR 2013 FOR A USER WITH 30,000 AND A USER WITH 2,000 CUBIC METRES FOR RATES 01 AND M1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Then I will ask the question.  Mr. Pankrac or Mr. Tetreault, did you look at that impact - that is, the differential impact - in increase in delivery bill between various sizes within 01 and M1 when you did your rate design?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think it is fair to say, Mr. Shepherd, that we would have -- in designing rates, we would have taken a comprehensive look at all of our proposed rates and whether or not we felt those proposed rates were appropriate, given the level of revenue deficiency that we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that is not really responsive to my question.  I'm sorry.

What I would like to know is -- you're going to give us an undertaking response.  Let's assume it says that a school has to have a 35 percent rate increase in the north and a residential customer has a 12 percent increase in the north.

I'm asking you, when you designed the rates, did you look at that impact?  Yes or no?

MR. TETREAULT:  We would certainly know, with a change in a volumetric rate, particularly in the context where the monthly customer charge hasn't changed in Rate 01 or Rate M1, that the higher the volume customer you were within that class, a volumetric rate could have a larger impact on that particular customer, which will always be true of class rate-making.

Depending on where a particular customer falls in that rate class, the impacts will be different for that -- for any particular customer based on their volume level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then why didn't you increase -- in these four classes, why didn't you increase the fixed charges to make sure that that effect didn't occur?

MR. TETREAULT:  The goal of the monthly customer charge is to recover what we feel is a reasonable proportion of fixed costs.  And in our judgment, in our view, the $21 monthly customer charge level in both M1 and rate 01 in 2013 remained appropriate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what was your judgment based on?

MR. TETREAULT:  I would say that my judgment is based on the level of fixed costs that we are recovering in that monthly customer charge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you maintain the same level of fixed cost recovery in each of those classes as a percentage?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, I wouldn't say it was the -- exactly the same level of fixed cost recovery in the monthly customer charge.  But it would be approximately -- it would be approximately the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what's your percentage of fixed cost recovery in the fixed charge in rate 01 in 2012?  Do you have that number?  I looked in your application.  I couldn't find it.  That's why I'm asking.

MR. TETREAULT:  We may need a moment to turn it up, but I believe there is an IR response to this effect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know what the 2013 numbers are.  I have those.  They're in our materials.  I'm looking for the 2012 numbers.  Would you like to find that during the lunch break and let us know later?

MR. TETREAULT:  That may be best, Mr. Shepherd.  I could be mistaken on the 2012 number being in an IR response.  We will certainly take a look at lunch.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And am I right in understanding that nothing happened or you're not expecting anything to happen between 2012 to 2013 to change your ratio of fixed and variable costs; right?

You are not -- your cost allocation process hasn't demonstrated, for example, that your variable costs are actually higher than they used to be; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know that I can agree with your proposition as to whether there would be a change between 2012 and 2013, in the sense that for the test year we have prepared a new cost allocation study for the purposes of rate-making.

We do not -- the rate-making -- excuse me, the cost allocation study that underpins 2012 rates would be the 2007 cost allocation study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking:  Was there a shift in costs?  When you did your new cost allocation study, was there a material shift in costs between fixed and variable in 01 and M1?

MR. TETREAULT:  I would need to check, Mr. Shepherd.  I'm not sure I have all the relevant 2007 information easily available.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you do that, then?  Why don't we leave it that over the lunch break, you can -- can you take a look at that over the lunch?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I will follow up on that after lunch, and if necessary, you can do an undertaking if you can't get it at the lunch hour?  Okay.

Let me turn, then, to -- so that was 2013 we were talking about; right?  But you've also got a proposal for 2014; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your proposal is that in these four classes, what you want to do is you want to, effective January 1st, 2014, first, reduce the break point, which is currently 50,000 cubic metres to 5,000 cubic metres; right?

That's the first thing?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.  We're proposing to lower the break point to improve the homogeneity of the small-volume general service classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the second thing you want to do is harmonize the block structures, because you have different block structures in the north and the south and you want to use the same block structure?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're not harmonizing the rates, just the numbers of cubic metres in each block?

MR. TETREAULT:  Just the blocking structures, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But north is still going to pay a lot more?

MR. TETREAULT:  North rates will be higher, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you allocate your costs separately in north and south, and they have a lot higher costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your evidence proposing this is H1, tab 1, starting at page 14.  And again, I note -- and this is not in our materials, Madam Chair, because I'm going to be going through this exhibit in some detail.  I thought it wasn't necessary to kill the trees.  Page 14 of that update.  Do you have that, Mr. Tetreault?

MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this is your explanation of this proposal.  And you see, for example, at the bottom of page 15, you talk about the reduction of the break point to improve the class composition; do you see that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the two reasons you want to reduce the break point, if I understand them, are, one, you want to make the 01 and M1 classes more homogenous; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you want to improve the numbers of customers, increase the numbers of customers in the 10 and M2 classes?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  We are proposing to -- with that proposal, we are -- we would be improving the rate class size in both M2 and Rate 10.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the current break point was established in EB-2005-0520, your 2007 rate case?

MR. TETREAULT:  For M1, M2, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's right.  And it was already the break point for 01 and 10; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  From five years earlier?

MR. TETREAULT:  Several years earlier, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And since that time, you've learned that the 50,000 break point is not really the best answer; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think we have learned, based on the data we have provided in Exhibit H1, tab 1, tables 5 and 6, that a 5,000 cubic metre break point improves the homogeneity in both the Rate 1 and M1 rate classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you had that information in 2007; right?  I mean, nothing new has happened.  I'm not trying to slag you for what happened in 2007, believe me, I'm only --


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Kitchen is looking at me, because SEC opposed the 50,000 break point and we lost.  But what I am trying to understand is --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  They will find you out, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is:  Did something happen between 2007 and 2012 to make the situation different?  Or is it simply a matter that now you have better data and you have come to a different conclusion?

MR. TETREAULT:  I would suggest we have better and more recent data.

The tables that you see in evidence, tables 5 and 6, are based on 2010 actual data, and that has caused us to look at refining the break point between the small- and large-volume general service classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you take a look at table 5 on page 17 of the update?  Exhibit H1, tab 1, page 17?

MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is the -- this is the M1/M2 discussion.  Can you help us understand how that shows the value of the break point, the fact that the 5,000 is a better break point?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  If you look at lines 5 to 8, which describe the 5,000 break point, in class ratemaking what you're concerned about is that the average is actually reflective of the indicative things of various members of that class.

So, for example, if you look at column C, lines 5 to 7, you see that the averages are about 2,100, and you see also at line 8 that the class average for the group taken globally is 2,170.

So for each of those markets, you see that you have a very strong correlation.  And in fact, the averages -- whether you're residential or commercial or industrial -- are indicative of the average behaviours of the class.

And since class ratemaking is based on average costs, and since this class is homogenous, then in fact it does carry that message.

And the same is true of Rate M2.  And in Rate M2, if you look at the rightmost three columns of the screen, what you attempt to do in the Rate M2 at column F, lines 5 to 7 -- you can see that there is greater diversity.  However, if you look at kind of the main constituent of that class at line 6E, you can see that 36 out of 57,000 customers take -- take their average volume near the class average volume.

And so the average volume is reflective of most of the constituents of that class.

And so in terms of arguing homogeneity -- and remember that is not the only factor we considered.  We also considered that in the large-volume classes one of our goals was to have sufficient class size to have sufficient customers and sufficient volumes so that it is a sustainable structure over the longer term.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come back to that in a second, Mr. Pankrac.  I am just trying to understand what you are telling the Board.  In M1, at 5,000, no matter whether you are a residential, commercial or industrial customer, the average of those -- of each of those is pretty close it the average of the class; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a high degree of homogeneity?  You'll still have people at 150 and people at 5,000, but it is a pretty narrow band, and if you did a bell curve a lot of people would be at the centre; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  On average, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you actually do a bell curve to see whether you get a lump at the centre?  You don't do that; right?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PANKRAC:  The data indicates that those are -- the averages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't asking that question.  I was asking:  Do you do a bell curve to show that the customers cluster in the centre where the average is?  Because an average doesn't tell you that, does it?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's right.  The profiles, when you overlay the profiles, they're similar, so yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, what?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, they are reflective of a bell-curved type structure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you didn't actually do one to test it, did you?

MR. PANKRAC:  We did some preliminary analysis to verify that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am going to ask you to undertake to provide that, then.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.3:  to PROVIDE THE ANALYSIS DONE TO SHOW CUSTOMERS CLUSTERED NEAR THE AVERAGE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And just one last question on this point before -- I can see it is almost 12:20.

We saw how closely clustered the various groups were in M1, but as you pointed out, in M2 there is a lot more diversity; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  The size in M2 customers, there is more diversity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you set rates for a customer at 7,000 and a customer at 84,000, they're not necessarily going to be the same -- they're not necessarily going to respond the same way to the same rates; right?

That is, you're going to have winners and losers in that class; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is why our proposal is to use multiple blocks, to use a four-block structure in rate M2, to capture that diversity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then the last point on that is you say that the reason why 5,000 is best for M2 is because the 32,000 for commercial is similar to the average for the class 28; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  And that represents the -- by volume, it represents 1.2 million out of 1.6 million cubic metres, and by number of customers it represents 36 out of 57,000.

Our proposal also shows similar results for the north, and if you were to turn up table 6 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't want to go to that.  I will ask you about that in a minute.  But let me just nail down this last point, because I see the same effect as you just talked about for 5,000 in 20, 50, and 80, the same effect.  Commercial is roughly -- is very close to the class average; true?  In fact, it is almost the same percentage out?

MR. PANKRAC:  You will have that, but you also want to look the -- you want to look at the average, but you also want to look at the dispersion from the average.  So if you look at the variance from the average...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I went a minute too long.  I apologize.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will resume at ten to 2:00.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:21 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:57 p.m.
PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

We have a few preliminary matters.  The first is to find out where we are with the issue you raised this morning, Mr. Smith, about asking for e-mails, and I think it is instructions to Mr. Rosenkranz.  Is that still a live issue to be argued?

MR. SMITH:  It is, Madam Chair, and I have had brief discussions with my friend Mr. Thompson, and I believe the preference is to argue that today.  I don't expect it will take very long.

I gather Mr. Warren, who I see has arrived, may have a word to say in opposition, as well.  I wouldn't have expected that we would need more than 20 minutes.

MS. HARE:  So what we propose to do, then, is to break at 3:00 o'clock to allow, then, for the submissions to be made right after the break.  So we will hear the submissions at 3:15.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Which will then allow us a few minutes to deliberate and give an answer today.


The second thing is:  Is the plan for Mr. Rosenkranz to appear first thing tomorrow at, say, 9:30?  Or will he be -- I should look this way -- or will he be available any time in the morning, depending on who is cross-examining, so that it is a natural break?

MR. THOMPSON:  My understanding is he will be available throughout the day.  So we can slot him in when it is most convenient for the Board Panel.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Thank you.


Are there any other preliminary matters?  No.


Mr. Shepherd, then, could you resume your cross?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


There were two things that we left prior to lunch, one of which you said you would get back to us, and one that Mr. Pankrac gave an answer and I didn't yet follow up.


So why don't we talk, first, about the fixed charge and how much of the fixed costs are covered by the fixed charge?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  I did have a chance, Mr. Shepherd, to find the IR.


If I could ask you to turn up Exhibit J.H-4-2-2?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. TETREAULT:  And what this IR response shows is the percentage of fixed costs recovered in the monthly customer charge for all four general service rate classes, at both 2013 proposed levels and Board-approved 2007 levels.  So you can see there the relative proportions for each of the four rate classes.


And in terms of Rate 01 and Rate M1, you will recall that pursuant to the EB-2007-0606 settlement agreement, Union increased the monthly customer charge by a dollar per year from 2008 to 2012.

So my point in mentioning that is that the 2007 Board-approved percent recoveries that you would see on -- in the last three columns of this particular IR response, those amounts would be -- those percentages would be increasing for Rate 1 and M1 throughout the IR term.


I believe your question was at least partially related to 2012.  So I thought it would be helpful to point that out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that's -- so what this is showing, then, is that your percent recovery, even keeping the rate the same, is actually going up, right?

MR. TETREAULT:  No.  I wouldn't agree with that, based on my last comment there, which is -- which is the right-hand side represents 2007 Board-approved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. TETREAULT:  So for Rate 10 and M2, you have -- the 9.6 percent that you see in line 2, column F, and the 13.3 percent that you see in line 4, column F would not have changed throughout the IR term.

However, as a result of increasing the monthly customer charge by a dollar a year, throughout the IR term, the Rate 01 and Rate M1 percentages that you see in the far right column would have been increasing during the IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then --


MR. TETREAULT:  Towards or past the 2013 proposed levels.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So while you were looking for it, I was looking for it too, and I wonder if you could turn
up J.H-3-5-2.  This is not in our materials because I didn't think this was an issue we had to address.

And I am right, am I not, that as a result of the $21 monthly charge being left the same for 2013, the result is that your percentage of fixed costs recovered by the monthly charge goes down from 68.3 to 65.7?  Is that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you increased it to $22, then you would stay at the same level, roughly?

MR. TETREAULT:  Roughly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Now, the other thing that I was cogitating on over the break was the answer of Mr. Pankrac -- am I saying your name right, by the way?


MR. PANKRAC:  Pankrac.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Pankrac?


MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  You said that while there were -- there was diversity in the volumes in M2 at the 5,000 break point, the advantage was that there was less -- your word was "dispersion," right?


MR. PANKRAC:  That's the word I used.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm looking at the other break points that you've modelled in table 5, and I have to tell you that it looks to me like the percentage dispersion -- that is the percentage around the average -- is actually highest in -- at the 5,000 break point for M2; isn't that right?


The other ones, they look like they're a lot closer; they're a lot more bunched together.  True?

MR. PANKRAC:  Our primary goal with the Rate M2 and the Rate 10 volume classes, as our evidence indicates, wasn't to address the factor of dispersion.


It was to get sufficient class size so that you had sustainable rates, and our evidence speaks to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Okay.  So in terms of your first reason, homogeneity, that is actually really about M1 and 01, right?  And you are getting that; in going to 5,000, you're getting increased homogeneity for the two smaller classes, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is our evidence and that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're not getting increased homogeneity for the two larger classes; there, your goal is a different one, class size, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is our evidence, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So then I want to take you, then, to page 9 of our materials, which is the technical conference transcript, pages 146 and 147.


And the two of you, Mr. Pankrac and Mr. Tetreault, were asked by Mr. Gluck:

 "So what about this class size thing?  What's the basis of it?  What is the appropriate class size?"


And I am trying to figure out your answer.  It looks like you keep saying:  Well, it's judgment, it's judgment, it's judgment.  Is it something else other than judgment?


Take a look at the bottom there. You say, "Mr. Gluck" -- Mr. Tetreault, you say:

"Mr. Gluck, there is a fair amount of judgment that goes into that."


Then you talk about that judgment.

And then on the next page, you say:

"So it's a bit of a judgment call as to where the appropriate break point is to achieve that rate class size."


And you don't tell us how you exercise the judgment.  You just said you are comfortable with it.


So help us with that.

MR. TETREAULT:  There is judgment involved, as I mentioned at the technical conference, in determining the appropriate break point.


But I believe that the data we've presented in table 5 supports that judgment, and supports the goals that we've put forward, which, as we mentioned for the small volume classes, is to approve the -- improve the average use per customer, and in the large volume classes improve the class size.

So we're trying to strike a balance between those two, between those two goals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what's the basis on which you draw the line?  My experience with judgment is you base judgment on something.  You base judgment on some analysis or some principles.  I haven't heard anything yet except it is judgment.

MR. TETREAULT:  The judgment is based on the results that we see in table 5 in terms of where average use per customer is appropriate at a 5,000 break point and where we have what we feel is a proper rate class size for the large volume classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there some principle that you use to determine a proper rate class size, or is it just you wanted it to be bigger and this seems pretty big?

MR. TETREAULT:  Generally speaking, one of the principles or one of the goals of rate design is to have class size that is sustainable.

So, for example, with M2, as you can see in table 5, at a break point of 50,000 the rate class has roughly 6,000 customers, and at the 5,000 break point the rate class has, let's call it, roughly 50,000 more customers.  And in our judgment, we feel that we now have the rate class size that we need for sustainable classes going forward at an M2 level of 57,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So nobody disagrees that at its current size it is pretty small.  The question is not whether it is too small now.  The question is:  How big do you want to make it?

You could have gone to a 2,500 cubic metre break point and had an even bigger class; isn't that right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or 3,000 or 3,500 or whatever.  What is the basis on which you say, no, 5,000 is the right number?

MR. TETREAULT:  As I mentioned, the basis is really the balance of the two goals.  So what you're really -- what we're looking to do is strike the balance between what gives us what we feel is the appropriate homogeneity in the small volume classes with the proper rate class size in the large volume general service classes.

And of all of the various break points that you see in table 5, in our judgment, the 5,000 break point best balances those two goals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, okay.  And the -- and so what you ended up doing, then, is you moved or you are proposing to move 69,000, roughly 69,000, customers from 01 and M1 to 10 and M2, right, 18,163 from 01 to 10, and 50,847 from M1 to M2?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  By the way, I presume you will agree that that 69,000 customers includes most of the schools in your franchise area?

MR. TETREAULT:  I believe so, yes, to the extent that schools fall within the 5,000 and 50,000 volume range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, but that's roughly correct; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then let's -- tell me whether this is correct.  You have three groups of customers here.  You have those under 5,000 cubic metres per year, and they're going to be in either M1 or 01 regardless under your proposal; right?  They're staying where they are?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then at the other extreme you have ones that are over -- by the way, that is about 1.2 million customers?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you've got ones that are 50,000 cubic metres per year, or more, who will be in M2 or 10, regardless, and that's about 8,000 customers?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you've got the ones in between, 5,000 to 50,000 customers, who are currently in M1 or 01, and under your proposal would move as of January 1st, 2014 to M2 and 10, and that's about 69,000 customers?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, when you move these 69,000 customers from one rate class to another, you have to move their costs, as well; right?  In order to set rates for M2, for example, you have to take the costs that apply to those customers and move them into M2; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Same is true with 10?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, conversely, when you are setting the rates for M1 and 01, you have to take those costs out, because those customers aren't in there anymore; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  We need to reallocate the costs based on the new proposed break points.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So my friend, Mr. Thompson, asked you an interrogatory about that, which you will see at page 11 of our materials - the reference is J.G-1-14-2 - saying basically, with all of these rate design things:   How did you do the cost allocation?

I am going to ask you about the actual method you used in this case, but I would like you to first explain b) in that answer, because I didn't understand that, actually.

So I wonder if you could just go to that answer b) and tell us what that actually means?

MR. TETREAULT:  What we are saying in part b) is, should the Board approve our proposals for the four general service rate classes when Union's next cost of service proceeding comes around, whenever that may be, the new rate classes with the new volume break point would be reflected in the cost allocation study that is prepared at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't done a cost allocation study based on your proposed new rates; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you won't actually find out what the right costs are under the new classes you are proposing not just here, but elsewhere in your application, until after the Board says yes?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, I wouldn't agree with that, Mr. Shepherd.

We have performed a cost allocation for 2014 for the general service rate classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm going to take you to that, but that's not a cost allocation study as anybody in the gas industry thinks of a cost allocation study, is it?

MR. TETREAULT:  It's a cost allocation methodology.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a shortcut?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't know -- I don't know that I would call it a shortcut.  It is a methodology consistent with how Union would have split the original M2 class in 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could go to pages 12 and 13 of our materials.  We asked you in the technical conference about this cost allocation and how you did it.

I take it that I can -- that that can be summarized as you used a weighting methodology, which we're going to get to in a second, and that methodology was not in the evidence until we asked about it; right?  Is that a fair characterization of what that page is?

MR. TETREAULT:  What we had in evidence were the resulting proposed rates of that cost allocation methodology, but, yes, you are correct.  We did not include the methodology, the details of that methodology, in prefiled evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you undertook to provide that, and that response is JT2.27, which is included in our material starting at page 14.  Do you see that?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is your evidence; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so let me just -- why don't we start with -- why don't you give a brief summary of what you did to reallocate these costs, what the methodology was?  I will take you to the details in a second, but let's start at a high level, and then we will work down to the details.

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  In terms of the approach we used, what we did is similar to what we did in 2007, and that is we looked at the total general service costs for M1 and M2 as a single bucket of costs, and, similarly, we looked at Rate 1 and Rate 10 as a bucket of costs, and then we said:  At this new break point, what is the effect of allocating costs between the general service classes, between the small volume and large volume general service classes.

And so there's two types of costs we wanted to allocate.  The first is customer-related costs, and the second cost -- because we know in total what the customer-related costs are for M1 and M2 and we also know in total what the customer-related costs are for Rate 1 and Rate 10 based on the 2013 cost study.

So we know for that general service class grouping what the customer-related costs are in total, and then we came up with a basis on which to do the split between the small-volume and the large-volume classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't you tell us what the basis -- we're talking now about the customer-related costs, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And just before we get into the customer-related costs, if you would take a look at page 19 of our materials, you were asked by my friend Mr. Buonaguro and his team:  What do you mean by customer-related costs?  And your answer was, as set forth there in a):  Costs that don't vary with volume, in essence, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  Customer-related costs are costs that do not vary with throughput or with capacity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  And then -- but you also have demand-related costs.

MR. PANKRAC:  And that is capacity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  And for the purposes of rate design, you treat demand-related costs as customer-related costs, right?  They're part of the fixed costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  For the purposes of rate design, we do consider customer-related and demand-related costs to be fixed costs.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So back to page 15 -- actually, I am going to take you to page 16 of our materials.  You see here at the top of the page:   "2014 allocation of customer-related costs."  Now, that is actually customer-related and demand-related; is that right?

MR. PANKRAC:  It is customer-related.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it is what?

MR. PANKRAC:  It is the allocation of customer-related costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I'm looking on the next page, which is delivery-related costs, and so are the demand-related costs in there?

MR. PANKRAC:  The only two components of the rate are the monthly charge and the volumetric charge.  So anything that does not form part of the customer charge, which recovers the customer-related costs, will be recovered in volumetric charges.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I'm trying to -– sorry, I am actually -- I thought this was easy.

In J.H-4-4-1, which is on page 19 of our materials, I thought you said:  In our rate design, we treat demand-related costs as fixed, and therefore, they're in the fixed charge; is that right?

I am just trying to figure out which bucket they're in, that's all.  They have to be somewhere, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  The demand-related charges, by the nature of the rate structure, are recovered, as they currently are, in the volumetric charges that all customers in those classes pay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Isn't that what that says, Mr. Shepherd?  Costs that are not demand- or commodity-related, but relate more to providing services at the customer locations or to vary with the number of customers.

So it seems to exclude demand from the fixed charge component.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm sorry, Mr. Sommerville.  I guess I was confused with the statement:

"In addition to customer-related costs described in part (a), Union also classifies demand-related costs as fixed."

So I assumed that that meant that they were in the fixed charge bucket.  They're not, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  No.  As our schedule shows, the schedule that you referred to shows the recovery of the customer-related charges.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Okay.  So then back to this methodology, if you would take a look at page 16, this is the methodology you used for the customer-related costs, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you want to explain how that works?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  So what we do within the broad grouping is, as I said earlier, we know what the total customer-related charges are for providing the services in Union north and Union south.  And then what we do is we also know the number of customers, based on 2010 actual data, and so what we do in column B is we weight those number of customers, depending on the type of customer, and to come up with a weighted number of customers that appears in column D.

The percentages that result from that weighting appear in column E, and you can see that for Rate 1 it is about 91.3 percent, and for Rate 10 it is about 8.7 percent, and a similar exercise we go through in the south.

So what we do is -- we know in total what the 2013 cost study has allocated in terms of customer-related costs, and then what we do is we determine the relative proportion of customer-related costs related to each general service rate class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where did the weightings come from?

MR. PANKRAC:  The weightings are to differentiate between small-volume customers and large-volume customers, because in an earlier case -- and the basis of the earlier division of the Rate M2 class was to give recognition to the fact -- and the Board approved it -- to recognize that it is not, as the Board said, is not reasonable to think that a residential customer incurs the same customer-related costs as a large industrial customer in the same class.

And so what the weightings do is they give recognition to the fact that if you did not weight these to give recognition to that, what you would have is you would have a single common customer charge, which runs counter to what the Board approved in a previous case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know, you have now raised the fact that this was approved at a previous case.  That's 0520, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  It was in a previous case, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was -- the case you're talking about is the 2007 rate case, 2005-0520?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  And the methodology we followed here is the same as we did when we did the 50,000 cubic metre split.

MR. SHEPHERD:  okay.  So let me understand this right.  You found that your break point was wrong when you did it the last time, so you said:  Let's use the same methodology this time?  Why would you do that?

MR. PANKRAC:  Well, I disagree with your premise.

It is not that the break point was wrong.  It is, as Mr. Tetreault indicated earlier, is that since -- our initial proposal was based on 2005 data, and what we have done is we've further refined that proposal.  And what we've done, though, is we have applied the same methodology to produce the relative costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you look at this page 16, what you did is you said a commercial customer, their customer-related costs are 150 percent of a residential customer, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  We use a 1.5 weighting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And an industrial customer are 200 percent, twice as much, as a residential customer, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said making that assumption -- do you have a basis for those numbers, aside from you used them in 0520?  Is there some technical basis for it that I don't understand?

MR. PANKRAC:  Previously, before the last few cases, it was actually a methodology that was applied in the cost study, that later, based on refinements, we no longer used for cost study purposes.  However, for this purpose, we have used it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why did you stop using it for cost study purposes?

MR. PANKRAC:  Because we had better data.  We had better -- our ability to source better data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why didn't --


MR. PANKRAC:  Those relative ratings were no longer required, because now we could do it explicitly rather than by way of estimation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't that data give you weightings that made sense, then, weightings that you could have empirical basis for?

MR. PANKRAC:  Could you ask your question in another way, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  You stopped using the weightings because you had empirical data that did the same thing, that accomplished the same result in a cost allocation context.

So why couldn't you use the same empirical data to determine appropriate weightings for rate design purposes?  Wouldn't that work?

MR. PANKRAC:  The use of this approach -- and that is why we do not require an additional cost study -- was that the use of these weightings is a very good proxy, and hence we didn't do a full cost study because the effect of this weighting gets us very close to the results that are produced by the cost study in the small-volume markets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you are going to tell us that you have some evidence that these weightings are based in reality?

You just said that the weightings are a good proxy for reality, so what is your basis for that?

MR. TETREAULT:  I apologize, Mr. Shepherd.  Could you repeat the question for me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  The reason you use these weightings is because, as Mr. Pankrac said, they're a good proxy for reality.  If you did an empirical analysis, you would get roughly the same numbers.  What is your basis for saying that?

MR. TETREAULT:  As it relates to what we're proposing for 2014, I think the basis is that we have used that methodology prior in the split of the former M2 class into M1 and M2, which goes back to 2007, and that that methodology was approved by the Board in that case.

So we have applied the same methodology for the 2004 proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me, then, take you to the next page, which is your split of delivery-related costs, which I now understand includes demand related, right, demand related and commodity related?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so can you give us a brief explanation of how this worked?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  So since these costs -- and we know what in total the delivery-related costs are.  So at line 3D, for example, in the south -- in the north, we know that that is 62-and-a-half million dollars.

And so what we have done is we have proportioned those into the volumes based on the 2010 actual data, as appears in column B.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are basically making the simplifying assumption that these costs are entirely driven by volume, and they will be the same regardless of how many units there are; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  What we're saying is that volume is a good proxy for this calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the effect of this process is to remove -- when you -- taking a look at that page, for example, when you restate your costs in this column D, that has the effect of moving delivery-related costs from 01 to 10, and those are the costs that represent those customers you moved; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  I'm not following your point about how that moves costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  You had a split here where you had -- for example, in rate 01 you had volume of 837.4 billion, and rate 10 was 245.  And now you have a different split, 609.4 and 472 -- 473.

So that percentage means that you have to split up the costs differently; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  You have to split up the costs based on the 5,000 volume break point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in doing that, what happens is that the costs that would be in rate 1 are lower and the costs that would be in rate 10 with higher; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  I disagree.  You would have to use the volume proportions for the new classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your whole methodology starts from the assumption that you have to move costs over.

And I asked you the question:  Do you have to move the costs of those 9,000 customers over, and you said yes.  Is that not true anymore?

MR. PANKRAC:  What we do is we redetermine the costs.  We don't take a subset and say these are the costs of moving customers.

What we do is we look at the costs determined by the 2013 cost study, in total, and what we do is we say, What is the proper basis to allocate those costs?

And so it is not like we take a subset and that we're moving it.  What we do is we take the total class and say:  Based on this redetermined break point, what is a reasonable allocation of those costs?

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let's go back to page 16 for a second.  We will do this a simpler way.

If you take a look at the figure 111 million there, you see, under column F, customer-related costs for rate 01, 111 million?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At the break point, 50,000, we know what the number is, because that's your break point in 2013, and that number is 117 million, isn't it?

MR. PANKRAC:  The 117 million is not based on the 2010 actual number of customers.  The 117 million will be based on the 2013 forecast number of customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How does that make a difference?

MR. PANKRAC:  Why does that make a difference?  It is because I am determining my cost split based on -- it's data driven.  I am using the actual data I have and what I know on my most recent forecast of how that split will look at 5,000 cubic metres, and I'm saying that that is the most -- is the most accurate way I have of apportioning that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me do this a different way.

I didn't actually think this was the hard part, Mr. Pankrac.

Take a look at line 9.  You see the figure for Rates 1 and 10 is 121,565,000.  That is the total costs; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the number for 2013, in fact; right?  It's the same number for 2013?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have allocated that between 01 and 10 for 2013, haven't you?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  I have taken the 2013 costs, as I indicated earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that in 2013, that that allocation is 117 million to 01, and about 3 million-and-change to 10; is that right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the effect of this methodology is to reallocate $6,756,000 which was in 01.  You moved it over to 10; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  I'm just looking up another sheet.  Bear with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you want, these numbers are all calculated on page 18.

MR. PANKRAC:  We are moving costs to reflect the different characterization of the class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I correct that the costs you have moved from 01 to 10 from 2013 to 2014 are 6,756,000?  And I did that -- I'm looking on page 15.  I did that simply by looking at line 1 and subtracting column A and D.  That's the correct way to do it; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Could you repeat that last part, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The question is:  Did you move
-- are you proposing to move $6,756,000 of costs from 01 to 10?  And the way I calculated that is line 1 of page 15 of our materials, page 1 of attachment to JT2.27, 117,795 is the allocation in 2013 and 111,039 is the allocation in 2004.  The difference is 6,756,000; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And we can do that for each line and we can determine -- in fact, you will see that if you take ten-five-twenty-seven, the 2014 Rate 10 number, and subtract 3,770,000, the 2013 number for Rate 10, you get the same 6,756,000, because that is how much you moved; right?

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct.  And the total obviously needs to remain the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The same will be true of M1 and M2?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except the amount moved was 13,015,000.  Will you accept that subject to check?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is what I am trying to figure out, and I want you to move to page 18 of our material.  This is the spreadsheet we provided to you on Wednesday.  You have seen this spreadsheet?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this calculates all of those numbers exactly how we just did those ones.  It calculates all of the numbers in your reallocation.  Does this spreadsheet calculate those numbers correctly?

MR. PANKRAC:  At the top of the page, I would point out that those are not rate classes.  Those are just groupings --


MR. SHEPHERD:  True.

MR. PANKRAC:  -- and really are -- if you recalculate that based on our proposed groupings, you would only at the top of the page have two groupings, and one would say up to 5,000 cubic metres, and the other rate class, over 5,000 cubic metres.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely true, but that is not the question I'm asking.  I'm asking:  Does this correctly calculate the costs that your methodology says apply to each of these three groupings?

MR. PANKRAC:  No.  By the fact that, for example, if you look at the volumetric rate, you can see that between 5,000 and 50,000 cubic metres, it calculates a volumetric of 5.1 cents, and the over-50,000 cubic metres calculates a rate of 0.63 cents.

The problem with that is -- is that the rate really should be calculated on the rate class, and if you sum those groupings you would get your 0.57783.

And so the effect of the partitioning, which is not along rate class lines, will start to produce anomalies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, no, the anomalies are the result of your methodology, Mr. Pankrac.

And so I am going to take you through it and let's see if we can see whether that is true.

So let's go back to page 15.  All right?  And on page 15, let's just start with -- what was the one you just raised?  Oh, yes.  The shift from 01 to 10 of volumetric costs.  All right?

So take a look at line 1 on page 15 of our materials.  In 2013, the "other delivery" -- that is the volumetric component -- is 47 million and change, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then in 2014, that number is 35 million 211, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that means that you have reallocated - tell me whether this is correct – 11 million 854 from 01 to 10?

MR. PANKRAC:  We have captured the difference there, because there is also -- in redefining the break point, you have also redefined the volume.  And so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will come to the volume.  I am just asking:  On the movement of the costs, is that what you did?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, based on the movement in volume.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now let's look at the volumes.

So in the volumes, if you go to page 17 of our materials, line 1, you will see that the volume you start with is 837,395.  You go to 609,371, and the difference, by our calculation, is 228 million; is that right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then it seems to us to be relatively math-related to say:  11,854,000 in dollars, 228 million m3, means 5.2 cents per m3.

That math is correct, isn't it?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  Subject to check, I will accept that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And similarly, if we look at -- where's the best place to look at it?  Okay.  Take a look at page 15, column E, line 2 of your response.

You have 27 million 330, is the delivery-related costs that you allocate in 2014 to Rate 10, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then let's look at page 17, which is on line 2, column B.

473 million m3 is the resulting m3 in that rate class after you moved the customers over, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the result of that is, if you -- that the volume that relates to the over-50,000 guys is 6.3 cents per kilowatt -- per kilowatt-hour, per m3; isn't that right?

MR. PANKRAC:  I accept that calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So that does seem a bit strange, don't you think, that the over-50s would have a volumetric cost?  Because these are costs now; these are not rates, these are costs, rights?

MR. PANKRAC:  What it shows is you have not disaggregated it based on the rate class we are proposing, and any time you select a subgroup of that class, you will get variances.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, that assumes that the class is right, but that's what we're discussing, is whether the class is right.

MR. PANKRAC:  The basis of our proposal -- and we have laid it out -- is a break point of 5,000 cubic metres, and our claim is if you break it at 5,000 cubic metres, then in fact your average delivery rate is the same.

If you were to aggregate the 5,000 to 50,000, and the 50,000 and over, and determine a delivery rate, you would get the average delivery rate for our proposed class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but I guess the problem is --remember we started this discussion trying to understand -- you agree that, in order to change the break point, you have to move costs from one class to the other class, right?  You have agreed to that already?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  That is the effect of a change in break point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So we have identified what costs you moved, and we have identified how many customers you moved and what their volumes were.

Isn't that supposed to be the costs associated with those customers?  Isn't that what you are supposed to move over?

MR. PANKRAC:  Well, as I said earlier, we haven't done a move-over exercise.  What we've done is we've taken the total class, and what we've done is said:  If you select a break point of 5,000 instead of 50,000, here are the effects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the effects are that your methodology assumes that the five to 50,000 customers are
-- have lower volumetric costs than the smaller customers, but also lower than the larger customers, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  When you do it along rate class lines, in fact, the average delivery costs per unit are the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, but if you do it along rate class lines, you can't identify the costs that you move over, now, can you?  You have to identify the costs for those customers, don't you?

MR. PANKRAC:  Our claim is that we've moved over costs on a rate class basis, not on a particular subset of a rate class.  The minute you begin partitioning any rate class, you will have those kinds of anomalies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are partitioning the class.  You're saying to those 69,000 customers:  We're going to move you over to another class.  Right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we're going to move over your costs and your volumes too, and set new rates.

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what your methodology appears to show is you think that serving them is cheaper than serving the smaller customers and serving the larger customers; isn't that right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Are you speaking only of delivery costs?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, because if you look at the per-customer, customer-related costs, they're also lower.  I was going to get to that.

MR. PANKRAC:  Well, actually, there's a very simple exercise that you can do.  And that is that, if you look at the total costs that you have indicated as the per-customer costs, what you have to do is you have to associate that with an average volume of use.

And so your first one, if we take the first line up to 5,000 cubic metres, the cost of $520.01 is a per-customer cost that relates to an average volume of 21.67.

The cost of 1024.61 relates to an average volume of 12,554 cubic metres, and finally the cost of 11,092 relates to an annual volume of 141,185.

So what you have to do is you have to associate those costs with the relevant volumes, and the relevant volumes are determined on your schedule just by taking the annual volumes for each of the subgroupings, divided by the number of customers.

And so from your schedule, we can determine the costs but also we have to say is:  This cost is based on a certain average volume use within that grouping.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying if we take -- let's take the number 1024.61; that number is correctly calculated, right?  There is nothing wrong with the math?

MR. PANKRAC:  Can you point me to the line you are referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, this is page 18.

MR. PANKRAC:  Page 18?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The column you were just talking about, per-customer, 1024.61, you see?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're saying if we take that and we apply the average use of those customers that you moved over to your proposed rates, we'll get a number just like that?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. PANKRAC:  What I'm saying is that when you look at the per-customer cost, that's one way of expressing it.  But a per-customer cost is, in a sense, a bit of a corruption, because you know that there is a fair bit of the costs that are also allocated per volume.

And so what I did is I did a further calculation on your thing and said this cost that I am determining for each of these sub-groupings has to be associated with the volume related to that group.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that ten-twenty-four-sixty-one is associated with a volume of 12,000 what?

MR. PANKRAC:  554.  And the 12,554 is just if you take the volume divided by the number of customers in your sub-grouping that you indicated -- not your rate class, but your sub-grouping.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you work backwards from the bill to the volumes that your rates would create; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  What I am saying is that the per-customer cost has to be associated with a different volume use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I understand.

Let me just ask one final question in this area, and to do that I want you to go, if you could, please, to page 15, line 2.  You see here your -- in column B, your other delivery costs for rate 10 are fifteen-four-seventy-six; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's your actual cost allocation at the 50,000 break point for rate 10 for 2013; right?  You have actually done a cost allocation study to get that number?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that number, then, we know the volumes that relate to that, because you have given them to us on page 17, line 2, column A, which is two-forty-four-nine-fifty-five; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if we do the math on that, two-forty-four-nine-fifty-five, we're going to show that your cost allocation method, your main study, shows that the cost to serve those customers is 6.3 cents per m3.  Isn't that what it is going to tell us?

These are your numbers.  I didn't make any of these up, right.  These are all directly from you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PANKRAC:  I don't know.  I need to check that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, could you undertake to confirm that in 2013 you are proposing that the average volumetric charge -- the average volumetric costs, sorry, delivery -- related cost for per m3 for rate 10 is 6.3 cents per m3, okay?

Then, secondly, I am going to ask you to look at the same page, 15, but now I am going to ask you to look at column E.  And column E is -- on line 1, is 35,211,000.  That's the costs that you say are applicable to customers up to 5,000 m3 for delivery-related costs; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And their volumes in 2014, if I understand it correctly, are on page 17, line 1, column B, six-o-nine-three-seventy-one; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And will you confirm that your cost allocation method implies that their costs are 5.8 cents per m3, delivery-related costs?

MR. PANKRAC:  For both of those calculations, we will undertake to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.4:  TO CONFIRM IN 2013 UNION PROPOSING THE AVERAGE DELIVERY-RELATED COST PER M3 FOR RATE 10 IS 6.3 CENTS PER M3, AND CONFIRM COST ALLOCATION METHOD IMPLIES DELIVERY-RELATED COSTS ARE 5.8 CENTS PER M3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You generally use declining block rates to recover volumetric costs.  Why is that?

MR. PANKRAC:  Can you repeat your question, again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Within any rate class --


MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you recover your volumetric -- your delivery-related costs through volumetric rates using a declining block structure; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is it that you use a declining block structure as opposed to an increasing block structure or just one volumetric rate?

MR. PANKRAC:  There is a number of reasons we use a declining block structure.  One is that we recognize that a proportion of fixed costs that is recovered in volumetric rates is recovered over a certain level of volumes.

What we also --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me stop you there.  That is partly the fact that you don't recover all of your customer-related costs in the fixed charge, and partly that you have demand-related costs that are in the volumetric rate; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Go on, sorry.

MR. PANKRAC:  There are a number of other objectives that we have in mind.  One is the relationship to contract rates, the other one is that we look at the declining blocks previously approved, and unless there is a basis to say that there is a reason for striking different differentials, we will maintain those same interblock differentials.

And in Union's 2013 proposal, the reason that we have done constant increases to each of the rate blocks was, in fact, to maintain those differentials.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is part of the reason for the differentials the fact that as you deliver a higher volume, generally speaking, you have some economies of scale?

MR. PANKRAC:  Generally, there are economies of scale.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's not intuitive, is it, that a customer with over 50,000 cubic metres of use has a higher unit cost for delivery than a customer who is under 5,000, is it?  That isn't consistent with your normal expectation, is it?

MR. PANKRAC:  The rates are done at a class level, rather than at a particular volume level.  So what we do is we set rates for the class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't really respond to what I was talking about.

The principle I am asking about is, if you have a class with higher volumes, typically the unit cost to deliver to them - that is, the volumetric rates, the variable costs - are going to be lower than the smaller customers; true?  Typically that's true?

MR. PANKRAC:  It's a function of a number of things.  It is a function of the customer-related costs.  It is also a function of the demand-related costs.  As size increases, you may have increased meter size.  You may have increased pipe size.

And so what you might have is you might actually have a situation where the costs are increasing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it your evidence that you believe that the unit cost to deliver to your over 50,000 m3 customers is higher than the unit cost to deliver to your under 5,000 customers?  It's a simple question.

MR. PANKRAC:  The unit cost appears higher.  However, we have responded to that in an earlier interrogatory response by indicating that the level of customer-related costs means that the balance of the customer-related costs and all of the demand costs are recovered in volumetric rates.

So you could have a situation where the resulting volumetric rate, as is currently the case, may be higher.  And that is appropriate in terms of achieving cost recovery for the class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I'm not asking you about rates.  I'm asking you about costs.

This is about cost allocation here.  These are the costs you allocated.

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have allocated costs on the basis that the costs per unit are higher over 50 than under five.  Nothing to do with rates.  Costs.  So help me understand that.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PANKRAC:  Based on the cost allocation, the costs may be higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you tell us why that is?

MR. PANKRAC:  As I indicated to you, it is a function of the size of the meters, the size of the pipe, the length of the pipe, and typically larger customers will have larger meters, will have larger pipe.  And so what you can have is, if you express it as a volumetric rate, you can have a higher volumetric rate, a cost-based volumetric rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying this is just normal?  Because I have never seen it before; that's why I asked.  Now, you're the expert.  I'm not the expert.  I have never seen this.

MR. PANKRAC:  Well, we do have higher volumetric rates currently in our Rate M2 as compared to Rate M1, and we do have higher volumetric rates in our current Rate 10 compared to our Rate 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have higher volumetric rates in your 10 than 1?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  So if, for example -- I'm sorry, I'm referring to M1 and M2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is what started us on this path, is in 10 and 01, the volumetric rates in 10 are much lower than the rates in 01.  But in M2 and M1, your volumetric rates were not, before, higher, but are now higher.  You are proposing that they now be higher in M2, the larger class.  It seems strange.

MR. PANKRAC:  Are you speaking of the rates in 2013 or 2014?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I was looking at 2013.  Pages 2, 3, 4 of our materials have your proposed rates.

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  And the effect of our proposed redesign is to rebalance that in a way that makes the volumetric rates of Rate M2 lower than the volumetric rates of Rate M1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's because you moved a bunch of customers in, so there is more volume to pick up the costs?

MR. PANKRAC:  The rebalancing results in lower volumetric rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, if it is convenient for the Board, this might be a good time to break.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Now, the Panel actually thought it might be more efficient to hear the submissions before the break, on the question of e-mails.  I see Mr. Warren -- do you think he is just in the hallway, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think if you will indulge us, we haven't had a chance to speak to Union about this, and it
-- maybe we could resolve it.  So I apologize, but if we could do that, that might work.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So we will take the break now, and return at -- how much time do you think you will need?  Twenty minutes?

MR. THOMPSON:  Not long.  It's only Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  I don't even know what to say.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  We will come back at 3:20.

--- Recess taken at 3:01 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Smith, are you ready for your submission on the production of the materials?
Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mindful of the hour, I will try to move through this relatively quickly.

This is a request for production of the communications between Mr. Rosenkranz and the parties who have retained him, as well as copies of any draft reports.  The parties who have retained Mr. Rosenkranz are CME, CCC, FRPO and the City of Kitchener.

The basis of the request is the Board's new Rule 13A.01 and .02 dealing with expert evidence and, as the Board will no doubt be aware, Rule 13A.02 provides that:
"...an expert shall assist the Board impartially by giving evidence that is fair and objective."

With that change to the Board's rules on January 9, 2012, the Board's rules became aligned, to the extent there was any disalignment -- but became aligned with the rules as they relate to expert evidence in civil proceedings.

The general proposition with respect to expert evidence is this.  Expert evidence is an exception.  With respect to its production or production of communications with experts and drafts of reports, the general proposition is this.  To the extent litigation privilege applies to the work product of an expert or communications, that privilege is waived once the expert is brought forward to testify.

In the normal circumstance in a civil proceeding, you would have a voir dire where the expert would be called.  He or she would be cross-examined, and you would have a request for production of materials at that time.  That is obviously hugely inefficient in the context of a proceeding such as this, and that is why I bring the request now as opposed to when Mr. Rosenkranz is before you.  And I think it is appropriate, in the interests of efficiency, to consider the matter today.

The most recent pronouncement on this is from our Ontario Court of Appeal in a case call Alfano and Piersanti, which is a decision that was released by the Court of Appeal just two months ago, and it contains a very helpful and instructive, in my submission, description of the rules and of the circumstances that are directly applicable to this case.

So in the underlying facts in Piersanti, the trial judge had ordered production of e-mails between the defence expert, a fellow by the name of Mr. Anson-Cartwright, and the party who had retained him, Mr. Piersanti.  That production and the trial judge's decision to ultimately disqualify Mr. Anson-Cartwright following a three-day voir dire became an issue on appeal to the Court of Appeal.

And I do want to pause here, because this is not a question at this stage of disqualifying Mr. Rosenkranz.  Indeed, that is not sought at this stage, and I don't know that it will be sought.

What we're seeing are the communications in order to assess that, and that would be in the normal course.

So if you have a copy of the case, members of the Panel, I would like to take a minute to go through it with you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, sorry to interrupt.  They don't have a copy, so I propose to mark that as an exhibit and give it to them.  It is Exhibit K10.6, and it is the Court of Appeal decision in Alfano and Piersanti.

[Mr. Millar distributes documents]

EXHIBIT NO. K10.6:  Court of Appeal decision Alfano and Piersanti, 2012 ONCA 297.

MR. SMITH:  So if I can ask you to turn to page 96, this is the decision, as I said, of the Court of Appeal on appeal from a decision of Madam Justice MacDonald.

Sorry, paragraph 96, page 27.  There is a full discussion of the issues on appeal, but what is germane to the issues before the Board appears at paragraph 96.

You will see that the appellants' submission was the trial judge had erred in her mid-trial ruling refusing to admit Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence on the basis that he lacked independence and objectivity --


MS. HARE:  I think you added Mr. Rosenkranz?

MR. SMITH:  My mistake.  I may be ahead of myself.  Mr. Anson-Cartwright -- on the basis that he lacked independence and objectivity.

And I pause over the word "objectivity", which is of course the very word that finds its way into your Rule 13A.02.

And if I can draw your attention to page 28, paragraph 99, there is a discussion of the underlying facts.  Counsel for the respondents/plaintiffs had requested production of Mr. Anson-Cartwright's file.  That request had been refused, as in this case here, by the defendants.

There was a mid-trial motion, and the judge ordered production of e-mail correspondence that had been referred to in Mr. Anson-Cartwright's time dockets, and the e-mails were largely exchanged between Mr. Anson-Cartwright and Mr. Piersanti.

Pausing there, in this case, the plaintiffs knew that there had been e-mail correspondence, because they had earlier received production of Mr. Anson-Cartwright's time dockets on an earlier motion, so they were alerted to the e-mails and asked for them.  That was refused.

We could go through the formality of asking Mr. Rosenkranz if he exchanged e-mail correspondence with my friends to the right, and then bring this motion, but that, again, seems like a waste of time to me.

Mr. Anson-Cartwright was called.  He was cross-examined.  If you look over at page 101, you get to the appellants' argument.  They say that:
"...any lack of independence goes to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility."

That alone would not be a basis to object to the evidence here, because of course you have it make a decision on weight.  So that is still an open question.
"They argue that Mr. Anson-Cartwright’s reports were impartial and objective."

And then just pausing at paragraph 102, they say explicitly that:
"...the trial judge erred in considering the email exchanges in coming to her conclusion that Mr. Anson-Cartwright’s evidence lacked independence.  According to the appellants, the trial judge should have confined her analysis to Mr. Anson-Cartwright's reports and his evidence concerning the content of the reports."

And the Court of Appeal disagrees with that.

They go through the analysis in the next paragraph about the general rule laid out by the Supreme Court of Canada in the leading case, Mohan, about the criteria.

Over at page 104, they talk about the second criterion, which is helpfulness to a trier of fact, and the court observes that it will rarely be helpful to have a biassed expert.

They go on to say, of course, they recognize that parties call experts and that the parties' expert typically takes a position that is consistent with that party, but then they go on at paragraph 107 to say:
"...courts remain concerned that expert witnesses render opinions that are the product of their expertise and experience and, importantly, their independent analysis and assessment."

And I would say that that holds equally true of this Board, and it is demonstrated, in fact, by this Board's decision to enact new Rule 13A earlier this year.

Then if you go over, members of the Board, to page 32 at the bottom, paragraph 112:
"In considering the issue of whether to admit expert evidence in the face of concerns about independence, a trial judge may conduct a voir dire and have regard to any relevant matters that bear on the expert’s independence.  These may include the expert’s report, the nature of the expert’s retainer, as well as materials and communications that form part of the process by which the expert formed the opinions that will be the basis of the proposed testimony..."

And then it goes on at paragraph 114:
"I would not interfere with the trial judge’s decision in this case.  The trial judge had regard to the appropriate legal principles..."

And then the court goes on and looks at Mr. Anson-Cartwright's report and looks, again, over the next page, at page 34, to the e-mails and a pattern at paragraph 118:
"...a pattern of Mr. Anson-Cartwright attempting to craft his report to achieve Mr. Piersanti's objectives in the litigation."


And then it goes on and highlights a few of those.


The point is, members of the Board, that it is entirely fair game in this province and on the rules of this Board to ask an expert to produce drafts of his or her report, to ask for their retainer agreement, to ask for communications between the parties and the expert leading up to the preparation of the report.


I am not asking - and this is a distinction - I am not asking for communications which may have been exchanged subsequent to the filing of the report.

To the extent my friends have relied on Mr. Rosenkranz to assist them in preparing their cross-examination from that date, I am not asking for those communications.


I am asking for what went into the preparation of the report.  In other words, materials exchanged prior to that date, and drafts.  And in my submission, on the basis of the authority of the Court of Appeal and this Board's rules of practice, I say that we are entitled to those materials.

Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, is there any reason why you didn't make this request at the time that Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence was filed?


MR. SMITH:  No.  No reason, other than my own inadvertence, but I say that that doesn't go anywhere, and that would be true of not all, but many of the undertakings that we have given in this proceeding and that the Board has ordered in this proceeding.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson?
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am going to introduce the response here, and then Mr. Warren, who has argued a number of these motions recently, will embellish it, and Mr. Quinn may have something to add, but...


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  But...


MR. WARREN:  I'm the lipstick on the pig.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  No, no.  You're the main man.  I think, though, to preface it, you should have Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence in front of you, just so you'll see what we're talking about.  My understanding is this has not yet been marked.  So his evidence was attached to a letter of May 16 of 2012 that Mr. Quinn wrote.


MS. HARE:  Can you just give us a minute to pull it up?


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is filed in kind of an unusual space.


MR. MILLAR:  It is on the screen, if that assists the Panel.


MR. THOMPSON:  Should we give it a number, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps we should.  Again, none of the intervenor was marked properly as it came in.


This will be K10.7, and it is the report of Mr. Rosenkranz.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.7:  REPORT OF MR. ROSENKRANZ.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the second piece of it is his responses to interrogatories, which were sent in on May 29th.  And I suggest we might as well mark that now, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  K10.8.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.8:  RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES OF MR. ROSENKRANZ.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.  And the point I wanted to just draw your attention to is page 1 of what is on the screen there, with respect to Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence.

The first sentence, he describes who has retained him, and Mr. Smith, as always, has already addressed that.


In the second paragraph, he advises what he was asked to consider.  And he says:

"I was asked to consider whether Union's proposed allocation of Dawn-Trafalgar transmission system costs to in-franchise and ex-franchise services is reasonable, given the current characteristics and utilization of those facilities, and whether Union's allocation of revenues and costs between its utility and non-utility storage operations is consistent with Ontario Energy Board decisions.  This report describes the results of that investigation."


Then he goes on with -- under four topic headings and provides his recommendations.

The point that -- the first point I wanted to make is this is pretty bland in its tone, and it certainly doesn't smack of any advocacy of the type of the report that Mr. Smith is referring to in this case.


You will see at paragraph 98 of this case that he relies on that, that counsel on the other side, after receiving the first report, indicated that they would be objecting to its admissibility, and they're alleging that the report disclosed that the authors had assumed the role of advocates.


I suggest to you nothing of that nature in Mr. Rosenkranz's report.


Secondly, and more importantly, in the discovery process -- which is the interrogatory phase -- Union had no questions of him; nothing.  They didn't ask him any questions.  And surely if they were objecting to his lack of objectivity, one would expect questions to be made at that time.  That was some two-and-a-half months ago.

Yesterday, when we were discussing Mr. Rosenkranz's appearance here, we were told that we would receive a request for us to provide communications.  And it is interesting; the actual request we received reads as follows:

"... all communications between Mr. Rosenkranz or drafts of his reports and any of the parties who have retained him up until the date of his evidence."


So it was an either/or proposition in the formal request.


Now my friend wants both, and he makes the request while Mr. Quinn and I are in the midst of this hearing, and Mr. Rosenkranz, we're trying to get him here to testify.  So convenience, obviously, wasn't a matter of concern to my friend.

And trying to marshal the material that he seeks is not an easy task.


Now, on the point that Mr. Sommerville made, if this was a legitimate request for production of documents as part of a discovery process, then it would have been made months ago.


The timing of this request, I submit, in the context of not having asked the witness any questions, is a factor that you can and should take into account when considering the merits of this request.


Moreover, even had the request been made in a timely fashion, its scope is, in my respectful submission, far too broad, and Mr. Warren will elaborate on that point.

We're going to be into some interesting procedures before this Board if what Mr. Smith advocates is going to become practice.  This request, in my submission, trespasses on the zone of privacy, privilege and confidentiality that attaches to communications between experts and their sponsors.

So I submit that you are not going to be assisted by what my friend seeks.  He is really on a fishing expedition because he concedes, at the moment, he has no objection to Mr. Rosenkranz' objectivity.


So those are the points I wanted to make, and Mr. Warren will take over from here, if that is acceptable.


MS. HARE:  Yes.  Please proceed, Mr. Warren.
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair and members of the Panel, I apologize for my late arrival today, but I wasn't apprised of this issue until quite late last night.  I have a light at my office that goes on every time Mr. Smith overreaches.  It is on and off regularly, but last night, beginning of last night it was on brightly.  It kept me awake all night.

The first issue, in my respectful submission, aside from the issue of just simple professional courtesy in giving us advance -- substantial advance notice that this very serious allegation was going to be made, the first issue you have to deal with, in my respectful submission, is the circumstances and the procedure to be followed under your new Rule with respect to expert evidence, when there is going to be a challenge to it.


In that context, I would like you to turn up, please, the Piersanti decision, which was handed to us a few moments ago.

Mr. Smith, in taking you through the various sections of the paragraphs, neglected to take you to paragraph 98.  And my friend Mr. Thompson has referred to it, but at paragraph 98, it says:

"Shortly after receiving the first report, counsel for the Respondents indicated that they would be objecting to the admissibility of Mr. Anson-Cartwright's evidence.  They alleged Mr. Anson-Cartwright and his associate had assumed the role of advocates, and were not acting independently or objectively in preparing their report.  When Mr. Anson-Cartwright's second report was delivered approximately four months later, counsel for the respondents raised the same objection."


Now, it would seem to me a matter of both rational practice before the Board, in terms of organizing this so people can make sensible submissions on the basis of research, that the Board establish a practice whereby this kind of challenge is made at the first reasonable opportunity, which, in my respectful submission, would have been on or after the time when Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence was filed.  It was not.  It was silence until some 36 hours before the man is supposed to testify.

So in terms of establishing a practice, in my respectful submission, the Board should say, I'm sorry, Mr. Smith, you are just too late.

But let's turn to paragraph 115.  And in this circumstance, the Court of Appeal said:
"I have reviewed Mr. Anson-Cartwright's reports.  In general terms, they are repetitious and argumentative in tone.  Parts of Mr. Anson-Cartwright's reports read like the appellant's counsels’ written argument.  In places, the reports go beyond the areas in which Mr. Anson-Cartwright is qualified to give expert evidence and address factual issues that properly fell within the purview of the trial judge."


Now, it seems, in my respectful submission, that a minimum requirement for Mr. Smith to do is to take you to Mr. Rosenkranz's report and say, See, this report is prima facie an advocacy piece and not an expert's report.

And he hasn't done that.  He hasn't laid the essential groundwork for the finding he wants you to make to require us to produce the e-mails.

So in my respectful submission, the Board should reject out of hand the request that my friend has made on the basis that it doesn't comply with basic rules of fairness and the rational organization and application of the Board's expert rules.  He has to establish a prima facie case as opposed to what my friend says is purely a fishing expedition.

However, in addition to that, I submit there is a different set of principles that should obtain, and in that context I am going to refer the Board to a case, a leading case, in the Ontario Court of Appeal on the issue of privilege, because the request that my friend has made touches on the issue of whether or not the documents, and in particular the request for the e-mails, is sheltered by or is dealt with -- addressed by solicitor-client and/or litigation privilege.

There is a broader context that my friend, in my respectful submission, ought to have made you aware of, and this is that in the rules that govern civil practice in this province, there is provision, Rule 31.06, for asking at the discovery stage for copies of the drafts of reports of experts.

And the courts have said in the ordinary course that at the discovery stage it is appropriate to ask for and be given drafts of an expert's report, and I want to underscore that the rule applies to the discovery stage, not 18-1/2 minutes before the witness is supposed to testify.

But in those circumstances, the courts have said you can get the expert's report, but there is a long line of cases about what else you can get.  What the rule says is that you can get some of the foundational material that goes with it, the information that was given to the expert that allowed the expert to form his or her opinion.

That would have been an entirely legitimate line of inquiry for my friend, Mr. Smith, at the discovery stage, which he didn't avail himself of that opportunity.

So then on the penumbra, on the outside or periphery, of what is legitimate to ask for, the courts have had to look at the question of whether or not additional information about the expert is a legitimate area of inquiry.

And when they do that, they have to address the question of what is or is not privileged information.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, we haven't marked this yet.  Would this be an appropriate time?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren has handed out a case, General Accident Assurance and Chrusz, and we will assign that Exhibit K10.9.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.9:  ONTARIO COURT OF APPEAL CASE OF GENERAL ACCIDENT ASSURANCE V. CHRUSZ.

MR. WARREN:  Now I bring the General Accident and Chrusz case to your attention, frankly, in the limited amount of time available to me.  There are lots and lots of other cases which, as I say, talk about the nuances of what can be produced on the penumbra of the request for experts' reports.

What Chrusz does, it sets out the principles that have to be addressed in dealing with matters of solicitor-client and litigation privilege.

Now, in my respectful submission, the e-mails that my friend asks for are covered by solicitor-client privilege.  In circumstances where a solicitor and his or her client are trying to form their position, trying to understand what their position is at law, they are entitled to go to look to third parties to provide them with advice on that matter.

And this is dealt with in the dissenting decision of Mr. Justice Doherty.  It is a dissenting decision, but the principles which Justice Doherty expresses here in the matter of litigation privilege and solicitor-client privilege are, by and large, accepted by the courts.

Now, I ask you to turn to page 104, which is on page 27 of Justice Doherty's decision:
"Claims for client-solicitor privilege, unlike claims for litigation privilege, are usually framed in terms of communications directly between a client and a solicitor. It is, however, well-settled that client-solicitor privilege can extend to communications between a solicitor or a client and a third party."


And in my respectful submission, a third party in this case is Mr. Rosenkranz.  I exclude from that his report and perhaps drafts of his report, but other communications between a solicitor and his client are, in my respectful submission, covered by solicitor-client privilege, which is sacrosanct.

Now, my friend says, today, he only wants a certain category of communications, only those that deal with the report.  That's not a refinement that was evident in his request last night.

So we're dealing with that only at the last minute.  But in the absence of any refinement, any basis upon which he should ask for these documents, which he hasn't provided, other than some general entitlement to go on a fishing expedition, in my respectful submission, these documents are covered by solicitor-client privilege, the e-mail communications.

The decision goes on to deal with, in the succeeding paragraphs, for example, paragraph 111, the privilege.  This is the solicitor-client privilege:
"The privilege also extends to communications and circumstances where the third party employs an expertise in assembling information provided by the client and in explaining that information to the solicitor. In doing so, the third party makes the information relevant to the legal issues on which the solicitor's advice is sought."


Now, in my respectful submission, the Board should be very cautious about ordering the production of communications between an expert and his or her solicitors, except where a strong prima facie case has been made that there is something in them which is essential to your ability to make your decision, and my friend, Mr. Smith, hasn't done that.

In my respectful submission, these documents are protected by solicitor-client privilege, and my friend has not made a case that should warrant the extraordinary circumstance of your waiving that privilege.

So for those two reasons, that is what amounts to, in my respectful submission, with great respect, an abuse of the Board's process by asking for this information, without making a case for it, at the last minute.  And on the grounds of solicitor-client privilege, you should not order the production of the e-mail communications.

Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Do you have anything to add?
Submissions by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that my colleagues have given the legal principles.  I am just, frankly, concerned about the practical effect, the fact I am here.  To the extent that e-mails were desired, they could have been asked for before.  My sent box is on my desktop at home.  That is not available to me at this time.

If we're required by the Board, we would try to make a way to make that happen, but, frankly, that is the location of where the files would be, and I don't have access to that and Mr. Rosenkranz is en route here.

MS. HARE:  Any submissions from Mr. Shepherd, Mr. MacIntosh, Mr. Buonaguro, Mr. Aiken?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I will just make two brief comments.

This is not our information and we are not asking for it, so we are not involved directly, but we are concerned about the principle.

And my comments are this.  We have said to the Board on numerous occasions in the past that saying that it is too late to ask for something is not -- can never be conclusive.  If the Board needs something, it should be delivered.

So we don't agree with my friends Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren on that point, although in this particular case, it may well be too late.  But the principle, we think, is important.

However, our big concern is that what Mr. Smith appears to be proposing is a new way of dealing with experts, in which the practice is, before you have any reason to think that they're anything other than independent, you ask for everything.  Get the truck and dump all of the information.

Which means that we would have to do that, too.  The experts are actually mostly utility experts, so we would have to ask for all of the stuff from all the utility experts.  That is not very practical, not a good way to deal with it.

And so we think Mr. Warren has it right, that the first step is to show there is a reason why you need that and -- this information in this case.

And if you have a reason in this case, this is an expert that has a history of advocacy, let's say, or if you look at his report, as Mr. Warren said, if you look at his report it is plain on the face he is not an independent -- those sort of thing -- then you can ask for the stuff.

But to make it the general rule appears to us to be not a very practical approach.  Those are our submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have any submissions?
Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  I am very late to this, Madam Chair, and I have known about it for less time than even my friends.  The only thing I can offer is to provide perhaps some information about the type of information that is typically or at least sometimes provided before the Board.

It is not uncommon for a retainer letter or something like that to be provided; sometimes that is filed with the evidence.  Again, I make no comment as to whether or not it is too late to ask for that now.

I'm certainly aware that parties have asked for drafts in the past and those are have been provided.  E-mails?  Not so much that I can recall.  And I would tend to agree that there may be privilege issues there.  Of course, I have not seen any of these e-mails, so I don't know.

But aside from that, I have nothing to add, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith, any reply comments?
Further Submissions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Let me respond to each of the comments in turn.

Taking Mr. Thompson's submission, I may have said it or in the e-mail, but there is no question I told Mr. Quinn and Mr. Thompson that I was looking for these, and so there has never been any doubt as to what we were looking for.  I don't say -- so I say, in that respect, that there is no question about the scope of the request.

As to the timing of the request, I have this observation.  First, of course every time there is a request for an undertaking, the same could be true.  I made that submission earlier.

But if you look at the Piersanti case, what actually happened in the Piersanti case is there was a mid-trial motion to consider this and to seek production of the e-mails.

So this was not a matter of e-mails being asked for at the discovery stage and produced at that point.  In fact, the motion wasn't brought until mid-trial.

So in my submission, that goes nowhere.  Indeed, in the normal situation, you would put the witness in the box.  There would shall no notice whatsoever.  The adverse party has no requirement to notify anybody of their position.  You cross-examine as to qualifications and make the request at that point in time.

Indeed, providing notice to my friends now is an advantage that, in my submission, they're not entitled to under the rules, either in civil procedure or this Board's rules as laid out in the Rules of Practice and Procedure for this Board.

So in my submission, there is no right to notice, and the fact they got 36 hours' notice as opposed to zero doesn't help them.

As to Mr. Warren's comments about privilege, again, that goes nowhere either, from this perspective.  To the extent any privilege attaches to these communications, first of all, I would say it is litigation privilege and not solicitor/client privilege that could possibly attach to this.

But in any event, whatever privilege may attach to communications with an expert is waived the moment the expert is called to testify.  And the only thing that is happening now is I am making a request, as opposed to actually asking Mr. Rosenkranz when he is in the witness box.  And indeed, now that his evidence has been marked, the request is even more timely.

So in my submission, that doesn't go anywhere either, particularly as we have limited the nature of our request to communications which would be, by their nature, foundational to the report.  They're communications back and forth, leading up to the preparation of the report.

Finally, I just want to respond to the submission as to the requirement to show a prima facie case.

There is no such requirement at law.  And it is clearly laid out in the Piersanti case, and indeed I took you to this paragraph, but it was the appellant's submission that the trial judge had erred by even looking at the e-mail communication.  They had said:  No, you have to limit yourself to the report.  That is a reformulation of what my friends are saying, and indeed is a false premise to say that we have to argue and establish a prima facie case of lack of objectivity.

I may not argue at the end of the day that Mr. Anson
-- sorry, Mr. Rosenkranz is biased; that's not the stage we're at.  We're at the production stage.  People ask for things in discovery all the time.  Whether they appear in argument, sometimes yes, sometimes no.

We have a right at this stage to these materials, and I would ask that the Board enforce that.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Further Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, may I just make one point in reply?  And I apologize for this.

One of the difficulties that arises when this is sprung on you at the last minute is that counsel don't have an opportunity to prepare a proper brief of authorities.  That's one of the real problems with this.

So that my friend's assertion, his bald assertion that once a report is filed everything is fair game, the cases don't say that.  The cases are replete with very detailed analysis about what is or is not protected by privilege, even after the report is filed, and you would have had the benefit of that had we had more opportunity to argue this thing at length.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Okay.
Further Further Submissions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  I can respond to that by saying I'm looking -- even on my friend's submission, I am looking for foundational materials.  That's it.

MS. HARE:  We are going to take a 10-minute break.

While we are discussing the issue, I would ask Mr. Millar to speak to everyone to get a realistic estimate of how long cross is going to be, so that we have a better idea as to whether or not we are sitting on Monday or not.

Okay?  So that would be most helpful.

--- Recess taken at 4:01 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:11 p.m.
RULING:


MS. HARE:  The Board has no appetite to burden its processes with complex and adversarial procedures related to expert evidence.  On the other hand, parties have a reasonable expectation that they will be able to see some foundational documents related to an expert's opinion evidence.

In the Board's view, the request from the applicant is overly broad and late in the day.  The Board will, however, require the intervenors to make available the terms of reference for the retainer, for the opinion, and any refinements to the retainer that may have evolved up to the time that the report was filed.  Are there any questions?

MR. SMITH:  Just a brief question.  So that I understand, the production order is the terms of reference and only drafts of the terms of reference, but not drafts of the report.  Have I understood that?

MS. HARE:  Not drafts of the report.  And what we weren't sure about -- we're not interested in seeing the payment amount, necessarily, or the terms, if that is in the retainer.  However, if there are separate terms of reference and those changed over the time that the report was being finalized, that is what we're interested in seeing.

So it may be one document in terms of reference.  It may be a combination in terms of reference and retainer.  Is that clear?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That requires the intervenors, who are subject to the order to produce this material, a sort of uberimma fides approach to refinements to the retainer.  That is to say that we need to know that if there were refinements to the retainer, that you are going to take an appropriate view of what those refinements are and produce those.  Fair enough?

MR. WARREN:  Understood, Ms. Chairman.  I have copies of the retainer letter, which we're happy, obviously, in response, to produce.  With respect to refinement issues, I will have to speak to Mr. Thompson, who was more directly engaged in it than that.

Perhaps if you want, we can file the retainer letter now so Mr. Smith has it in advance of cross-examination, but it is going to take a little time to determine whether or not there were, in fact, any refinements to the retainer.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  Just to make clear when we say "refinements", if the scope changed and there was something added, that is what we're interested in seeing.

MR. THOMPSON:  I have to check the e-mail.  I don't think it did, but the actual engagement letter that was formalized was -- we completed that after everything was done.  So I have to go back and check to see if there are any sort of feed-ins to that particular document, but this is the culminating document.  You'll have that.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Based on the time estimates we have received, we will be sitting on Monday.  So we will proceed first thing in the morning with Mr. Rosenkranz.

Mr. Shepherd, I don't know if you've got, like, 15 minutes left or if you are coming back on Monday, in any event?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am about halfway through my cross, so I have about an hour or so.  An hour on a good day.

MS. HARE:  My hesitation is Monday is it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.

MS. HARE:  Does it make sense for you to proceed or just wait til Monday?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am happy to use up another 15 minutes of scintillating discussion.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Continued cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if we can -- I want to go to a discussion about your rate design for 2014.

Obviously, when you move a significant number of customers over from one class to another class, the customers who are left, the customers who are already in the second class and the one moved, there are winners and losers in every one of those groups, aren't there?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, I agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am trying to understand your proposed rate design.  So to do that, we looked at table 9 in your updated evidence, and 10.  And these are the changes to the rate that you are proposing for 2014.

They compare 2013 and what you propose in 2014; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  These are the current rates; that is, the current proposal, the most up-to-date proposal?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's start with Rate 1.  This won't take long.  So, right now, it has a top end of
-- this rate has a top end of 50,000 cubic metres, and you were proposing to reduce that to 5,000, but you are proposing to keep the monthly charge the same at 21.

And I take it that means that whatever -- no, sorry.  Strike that.

On the first 1,200 metres a year, the first 100 metres a month, you are proposing to reduce the volumetric rate; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the second 150, you are proposing to increase it?

MR. PANKRAC:  The next 150 in the right-most column is really not directly comparable with the next 200 that appears in the left-most column in the same line opposite.

So it is a smaller volume block that has a higher price.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're saying is, if 150 was the block in 2013, then the rate would be 9.24 or something higher than that; is that right?

MR. PANKRAC:  I'm saying that, yes, if in 2013 that block size was smaller, the rate would be higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is just a function of having a smaller block size.

And then the rest of it, the eight-seventy-two, is, again, a decrease from the next 200, but this is actually the last 2,000 a year of cubic metres for these customers; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.  That is the ultimate block.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not fair to compare it to the eight-forty-seven or the eight-nineteen in 2013, because they don't apply to this class anymore, do they?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.  And that is because we've had to make a redetermination of the block size for the redetermined class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, in the case of M1, again you keep the fixed charge the same, but you are increasing all of the volumetric charges.  And I take it the reason for that is because, in 2013, you have all of these larger customers in the class which are paying for volume, and when you move them out, you have fewer customers at less volume to cover the volumetric costs?

MR. PANKRAC:  Basically that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that implies, of course, that the cost per unit of the ones you are moving out are lower than the cost per unit of the ones that are there or left there; right?  The math doesn't work unless that is true; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then that's not surprising.  If you move bigger customers out of a class, typically their unit costs would be somewhat lower than the smaller customers that are left in the class.  That's not unusual?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then if you go back to the previous page -- or, sorry, if you go to the next page, rate 10, here you are proposing that the monthly charge is going to be cut in half; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason for that is because while a $70 monthly charge might be fair for somebody who has more than 50,000 m3, it's a stretch to say that the fixed costs of somebody at 5 or 6 or 7,000 would be $70 a month; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have to get back to a fairer number if you have a class with -- that's -- the bulk of it is smaller in customers; right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  The customer-related charge has to bear a reasonable relationship with the customer-related costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, but -- all right.  I will get to that in a minute.

Then in the first 1,000 metres -- so this is the -- this is 12,000 out of the 50, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or out of the first 50.  You are proposing to drop that quite substantially.  Why is that?  Is that part of that same -- like, you, typically in your first block, you try to pick up some of the fixed costs that are not covered in the fixed charge, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  And the answer to your question is -- is that in the Rate 10 at 50,000 cubic metres, the $70 charge recovers only a relatively small portion of the fixed costs, and so the loading in the blocks, the volumetric blocks, has to be higher.

In the 2014 proposal, the $35 charge recovers most of the customer-related costs that do not, then, need to be recovered in volumetric charges.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then for every -- for every cubic metre after that, you are proposing to charge more, right?  Than you did before?

MR. PANKRAC:  Not quite.  If you look -- the block sizes have changed.  And so, for example, if you look at the left you've got the next 9,000 cubic metres.  In our re-determined proposal, you have the next 6,000 cubic metres.

And so it's not an apples-and-apples comparison to compare those prices.

If you were, as in the previous illustration, to use that change in block size, you would have the higher price.

Hence the 6.6340 that you see in the 2014 proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So I was trying to understand that, because if you think of the 9,000, that 9,000 is made up of 6,000 at 6.63, and the next 3,000 will be at 5.98, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  If you think of the 9,000 in the new proposal?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PANKRAC:  So if you went through, you would in fact be through the first two blocks and into your third block.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so that would be 6,000 at 6.63 and 3,000 at 5.98, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.  In the 2014 proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you do that weighted calculation, it's still going to be more than 6.14, isn't it?

MR. PANKRAC:  I don't know.  I will take your answer, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then for the next 10,000, under the new rates -- that is, that third block -- it is 5.98 as opposed to 5.34, so again higher, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  It is a different block size, as indicated previously.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when you were doing this, how did you come up with those numbers?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, actually, the methodology is quite simple.  What we do is we take our re-determined costs.  So once we know what the customer-related costs are, we go and set the customer charge, as indicated, at $35.

And then what we do is we look at the average volumetric price, and if you were to take the average of the 6,000 block and the 13,000 block, which is the average customer in the class, your expectation is that the average customer in the class should be at or near the average price.  And so if you look at the average price of those blocks, it achieves on a revenue basis the average rate for that class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, let me understand this.  The average of blocks 2 and 3, whatever their size, the average of blocks 2 and 3 should be the average cost for the class?

MR. PANKRAC:  Should approximate the average revenue, the average rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide us by way of undertaking with a sample calculation to show how that works?  It is a mathematical calculation, right?  You could do that calculation?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably you did?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  We can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.5:  TO PROVIDE SAMPLE CALCULATION TO DEMONSTRATE METHODOLOGY FOR ARRIVING AT AVERAGE RATE FOR A CLASS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then we're looking at M2, and what happens with M2 is that all of the rates, the new rates, are lower than in 2014 and the 2013.  So it is not just the monthly charge; it is everything else is lower.  Why is that?

MR. PANKRAC:  It's because the use of the $35 monthly charge recovers all the customer-related costs, so that there are no customer-related costs that need to be recovered in the variable rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand this, sorry.  You are doing this on the basis of -- you're not assuming that there is a change in your revenue requirement from 2013 to 2014, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  It is revenue-neutral.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if it's revenue-neutral and all of the charges in M2 are lower in 2014 than 2013, every component of the rate, then the only reason why you could possibly be keeping it revenue-neutral is that those new customers in the class are paying more, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  We have filed a schedule that shows that it is revenue-neutral, at H3, tab 11, and we show that on a total general service basis for Rate M1 and M2 and for Rate 01 and 010, that it achieves the same revenue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that, and I am accepting that that is true.  I am just trying to find out why it is true when all of the rates are lower.

MR. PANKRAC:  I'm sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If all of the rates are lower, why is it true that it's revenue-neutral?

MR. PANKRAC:  It is the relationship of the number of customers and the volumes.

So you had the two mix changes that, in total, as we have shown in our filed schedules, achieve the same revenue.  In total, for general service rate classes, we are revenue-neutral.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is the pattern in Rate M2 not the same as the pattern in Rate 10?

In Rate, 10 you've got some that are higher and some that are lower; in Rate M2, they're all lower, all the components of the rates are lower.

And yet you have the same thing going on; you've got customers moving over?

MR. PANKRAC:  Not quite.  Because in Rate 10, the use of the $35 charge doesn't recover all of the customer-related costs for the re-determined Rate 10.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so this is about -- in M2 you're actually -- with the $35 you're actually recovering 116 percent of your fixed costs, right?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes.  We recover all of the customer-related costs and a portion of demand-related costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 116 percent?

MR. PANKRAC:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have any other classes like that, do you?

MR. PANKRAC:  In what way?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there any other classes in which your fixed charge recovers 116 percent of your fixed costs -- sorry, of your customer-related costs?

MR. PANKRAC:  If the context is customer-related costs, no.

If the context is fixed costs, then, in fact, it is -- the $35 does not recover, certainly, all of the fixed costs in Rate M2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't actually have that in the evidence anywhere, do we?

MR. PANKRAC:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we?

MR. PANKRAC:  Because by rate class, we do identify the portion for all the general service classes, we do identify the portion of customer-related costs and fixed costs in a response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Madam Chair, that is probably a good time to break.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thank you for the indulgence and letting me come back on Monday.  I appreciate that.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, thank you.

MS. HARE:  We will resume tomorrow at 9:30.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:29 p.m.
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